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1 About this Annual Report

Council has a statutory duty to report annually on how well it has 
performed as an organisation. This ‘report back’ to the community 
shows what services and improvement projects Council has 
delivered over the past year. 

Producing an Annual Report is a requirement of the Local 

Government Act (1989). The Act requires a council to report on:

 The context in which the council worked

 An organisational overview

 Council’s operations – what it has delivered

  The key activities and priorities identifi ed in the annual Budget, 

and

  A set of audited standard, fi nancial and performance 

statements.

Each year, Council develops actions under its four year Council 

Plan, and prepares an annual Budget through a process that 

involves its community. Council uses the Annual Report to measure 

how it has progressed with its objectives, and explain any changes 

or additions to what it has previously committed to.

For the fi rst time, this four year Council Plan has incorporated the 

requirements of the Municipal Public Health Plan with a wellbeing 

commitment that underpins the entire plan. This approach 

acknowledges that every action we undertake as local government 

has an impact on the wellbeing of our community.

The Council Plan 2009-13 has six key commitment areas:

The Council Plan is in its second year, with 119 annual actions 

committed to in 2010/11 and grouped under eighteen wellbeing 

outcomes.

The Annual Report to the community concludes the annual corporate 
planning and reporting cycle of Maribyrnong City Council. 

1  Building community spirit, engagement and places

2 Prosperity

3 Moving around the City

4 Amenity

5 Environmental sustainability

6 Organisational performance.

Stock Bridge, Maribyrnong River



Maribyrnong City Council ANNUAL REPORT 2010/20114

During 2010/2011 Council 

invested $19.5 million in 

capital works across our city, 

primarily in roads, footpaths 

and community buildings. 

Council reduced its debt 

by over $3 million and, 

through careful fi nancial 

management of its day to day activities delivered an operating 

surplus of $6.8 million. 

Key community projects include the hockey pitch at McIvor 

Reserve, substantial redevelopment at the Clare Court Children’s 

Centre and over $4 million in road works across the city. 

Council has also focused strongly on improving both its services and 

the amenity of the city over the past year. Improving services to our 

community and the presentation of the city remains a fundamental 

priority for Council.

Council has actively advocated to both the State and 

Commonwealth Governments on major projects impacting our City. 

The Regional Rail project when delivered, will have a major impact 

on availability of public transport across the west. Council has 

advocated for essential design and amenity improvements to 

be delivered as part of these project works. 

Major planning also proceeded for signifi cant urban renewal 

projects at former industrial sites: the North Maribyrnong Defence 

Site, Kinnears Rope Works Site, the Josephs Road Precinct, the 

Bradmill Site and many others. Council continued to adopt a 

collaborative approach with the State Government on projects 

across the city as it seeks to protect the amenity of existing 

residents whilst dealing with the considerable pressures of growth.

Council was able to support a range of new festivals through the 

festivals City Initiative and in 2010/2011, commenced the process 

of positioning the city as a culturally vibrant and diverse destination. 

During 2010/2011 Council appointed a new Chief Executive Offi cer, 

Mr Vince Haining, following the departure of Ms Kerry Thompson to 

take up a role as CEO at Wyndham City Council. Additionally, during 

2010/2011 four new General Managers were appointed to Council’s 

Senior Executive Team. 

I take this opportunity to thank those outgoing executives for their 

considerable contribution to our City over many years. 

Cr Sarah Carter
Mayor

2 A message from the Mayor and the CEO 

The City of Maribyrnong continues to be a city in transition, facing signifi cant 
challenges associated with a growing and diverse population, an ageing 
infrastructure and the problems of congestion and traffi c. 
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2.1 Councillors and wards 

Cr Dina Lynch
1. RIVER WARD
0434 473 735

Cr Sarah Carter
2. IRONBANK WARD
0432 139 612

Cr Catherine Cumming
3. BLUESTONE WARD
0417 390 658

Cr Sel Sanli
4. STONY CREEK WARD
0417 390 038

Cr Michael Clarke
5. WATTLE WARD
0434 473 734

Cr Martin Zakharov
6. SHEOAK WARD
0432 139 613

Cr John Cumming
7. SALTWATER WARD
0432 139 610

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.
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The Plan was developed following extensive consultation with 
Councillors, community members and Council staff. It guides 
Council’s planning, development, allocation of resources, and 
provision of services to the Maribyrnong community. 

The Plan is a strategic document, and sets out Council’s:

 Wellbeing Commitment,

 Vision,

 Principles and Values, and 

 Key Commitment Areas.

3.1 Wellbeing Commitment
In line with the MPHP, the Plan is underpinned by a Wellbeing 

Commitment that provides a blueprint for achieving wellbeing 

outcomes for everyone in the City. 

Council’s primary objective is to protect and promote the wellbeing 

of its community. Wellbeing is achieved when everyone has, and 

feel they have, the ongoing opportunities to reach their full potential.

Putting people fi rst means Council’s thinks about the impact on its 

community for everything it does. Every policy, strategy, decision 

and action will be informed by this commitment. 

3.2 Our Vision

3.3 Our Principles And Values
Council’s most important role is to govern for everyone. Therefore, 
it will provide local leadership based on a set of guiding 
principles and values that are at the core of all its activities.

Active Engagement and Inclusion

Council will actively engage and encourage diverse local 

communities and individuals to participate in the life, activities and 

decision making in the City.

Advocacy

Council will strive to bring the needs, strengths and opportunities of 

our diverse community to the attention of government, business and 

other organisations, to have them acted upon in the interests of the 

community.

Equality

Everyone will be treated equally and awarded every human right 

and responsibility.

Equity and Accessibility

Council will work to make the City a fair place by addressing 

people’s restrictions or barriers to accessing to services, 

opportunities and resources.

Partnership

Council will seek to strengthen the trust and confi dence of our 

community partners. We will work closely with groups, organisations 

and communities to achieve a shared vision.

3 Council Plan 2009-13

Under the Local Government Act 1989, a Council Plan must be prepared every 
four years following a local government election, and submitted to the Minister 
for Local Government.

Following the 2009 City of Maribyrnong elections, Council developed its Council 
Plan 2009-13 (Plan) – setting its long term vision, principles and values, and 
key commitment areas. The Plan incorporates the Municipal Public Health Plan 
(MPHP); Maribyrnong is one of the fi rst councils in Victoria to take this approach. 

“A diverse, vibrant, and proud City focused on 

people-based places, environmentally sustainable 

practices, and opportunities to enhance community 

health and wellbeing through education, responsive 

services and participation in community life.
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Public Service

Council takes its obligations of working for the community seriously. 

Council will strive to ensure all activities are planned, designed and 

implemented in the public interest by balancing and responding 

to changing needs, strengths and opportunities in a manner that 

is sustainable.

Respect

Council will be respectful and treat with dignity all people, ideas, 

beliefs and lifestyles.

Transparency and Accountability

Council will ensure all its processes, decisions and actions are 

carried out in an honest and transparent manner, and are open 

to regular public monitoring and scrutiny.

3.4 Our Key Commitment Areas
Council has created strategic objectives under six key commitment 

areas that build on the foundations of wellbeing.

Building community spirit, engagement & places 

We will build community spirit through the provision of quality 

facilities, responsive services and people based places with a focus 

on proactive engagement and community participation in civic life.

Prosperity

We will facilitate and advocate for better access to education, 

housing, health, employment and cultural services for all residents 

so they have every opportunity to reach their full potential.

Moving around the city 

We will plan, implement, manage and advocate for transport and 

parking systems for the City that enable people to get around 

and arrive safely at their destination, with a positive impact on 

community wellbeing and the environment.

Amenity 

We will create a well planned City and improve its amenity by 

creating streets and spaces, neighbourhoods and public places that 

are safe, sustainable, well used and the pride of the community.

Environmental sustainability

We value our precious environmental resources. In partnership with 

our community we will lead, trial, and promote sustainable practice.

Organisational performance 

We will develop an organisation that is valued and trusted, and 

facilitate its growth and development to ensure Council is continually 

positioned to respond to the challenges of providing a best practice 

service to our diverse community.

Footscray Community Arts Centre

Anderson St, Yarraville
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4 Highlights against Key Commitment Areas

The table below provides some highlights from the 119 actions Council has 
committed to deliver during 2010/11.

BUILDING COMMUNITY SPIRIT, 
ENGAGEMENT & PLACES

PROSPERITY

MOVING AROUND THE CITY

KEY COMMITMENT AREAS Highlights

 Extended library hours at three libraries (Yarraville, West Footscray and Maribyrnong)

 Reviewed and updated the Stony Creek Directions Plan

 Established Older Persons Reference Group

 Developed leadership and participation opportunities for young people

 Developed a draft Heritage Interpretation Strategy

 Promoted the Australian Indigenous collection held at the libraries

 Facilitated the ‘Urban Signs’ graffi ti arts project with young people

 Established the Arts and Cultural Advisory Committee

 Integrated health and wellbeing into core Council policies, strategies and actions

  Implemented the Maribyrnong Respect and Equity: Preventing Violence Against 

Women project

 Promoted training opportunities for local businesses

 Supported trader associations

 Developed the Maribyrnong Festival Policy

  Advocated for the State Government support and funding for the Footscray Renewal 

initiative including investment in social infrastructure and programs

 Developed a draft Responsible Gambling Policy

  Completed the construction of the Cross Street and Rupert Street shared path in 

West Footscray

 Completed the Walking Plan for the City

 Commenced the review of the Maribyrnong Integrated Transport Strategy

 Advocated for public transport upgrades

 Continued to liaise with the Melbourne Port Corporation on Port development activities

  Continued to work with VicRoads to monitor and enforce compliance of the 

truck restrictions
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ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

AMENITY

ORGANISATIONAL PERFORMANCE 

KEY COMMITMENT AREAS Highlights

  Developed an integrated Rooming House Assessment Protocol and 

Risk Management Plan

 Undertaken street lighting improvements within the Footscray Central Activities Area

 Completed the redevelopment of the Clare Court Children’s Centre, Yarraville

 Managed environmental issues associated with land contamination

  Developed proactive maintenance program for Council parks, sporting grounds 

and playgrounds

 Completed 95% of capital works program

 Completed 97% of road improvement program

 Reviewed the Syringe Management Strategy

 Conducted monthly Greening Maribyrnong Workshops

  Held environmental forums and expos targeting culturally and linguistically 

diverse communities

 Undertaken water audits at all Council’s Early Years buildings

 Implemented the Greening Footscray Street Trees Policy

  Developed a Regional Risk Assessment and Response Plan, in partnership with 

neighbouring Councils

  Reported regularly on organisational performance measures and progress on the 

Council Plan Annual Actions 2010/11

  Completed Best Value Service Review Pilot program, as part Council’s Continuous 

Improvement Program

  Developed a new software module to monitor compliance with the Rooming House 

legislations to minimise health and safety risks to the community
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5 Financial Highlights

Summary

  $6.862 million surplus, including $99.163 million income and $92.301 million expenses.

 $22.724 million spent on capital and improvement works.

Operating Surplus

The actual surplus achieved of $6.862 million compares to the original budget surplus estimated at $7.447 million.

Council Income 

Council’s Income Sources 2010-2011

$000 % TOTAL REVENUE

Rates 61147 61.7%

Grants 12611 12.7%

Interest 2678 2.7%

User Charges & Statutory Fees 18541 18.7%

Contribution & Reimbursements 3691 3.7%

Other Income 495 0.5%

Total Income 99163 100%

Council Expenditure

EXPENDITURE SOURCES 2010-2011 $000 % TOTAL REVENUE

Employee Benefi ts 40964 44.4%

Materials & Services 36460 39.5%

Bad & Doubtful Debts 2116 2.3%

Depreciation 10933 11.8%

Financial Costs 770 0.8%

Net Loss on Depreciation of property 720 0.8%

Other Expenses 338 0.4%

Total Income 92301 100%
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Cash Position

Council continues to improve its cash position with all reserves and 

provisions being fully funded allowing Council to plan for major 

projects in the future. 

Council Debt

Council’s continued adherence to its long term fi nancial plan has 

seen debt reduced to $9.701 million as of 30th June 2011.
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Street art, Footscray
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6 What we delivered to our community – Some Facts

Council provides over 80 different services to its community, each contributing 
towards achieving the Council vision, key commitment areas and strategies. 
Below is a snapshot of some of the services Council has delivered to its community 
during 2010/11.

WHAT HAVE WE DELIVERED…. 2009/10 2010/11

OUR CUSTOMER SERVICE

Number of customer requests 24,815 28,189

Number of counter enquiries 118,722 135,343

Number of phone enquiries 138,441 93,184

Number of emails responded to (via Council email) 11,476 15,757

Percentage of calls resolved at fi rst point of call 74% 79%

OUR COMMUNITY – COMMUNICATION, PROGRAMS, SUPPORT

Number of media releases issued 174 142

Number of times interpreting and translation service accessed across all areas of Council 337 226

Number of web page viewed 1,874,986 1,932,790

Number of visits to libraries 536,838 527,646

Number of visits to Community Centres 338,476 250,089

Number of loans from libraries 816,531 808,110

Number of people who attended programs at libraries 14,450 13,368

Community Grants - total funds available $101,516 $118,716

Number of visits to Maribyrnong Aquatic Centre 724,945 895,393

Number of sporting clubs we supported 60 60

Clare Court Children’s Service
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WHAT HAVE WE DELIVERED…. 2009/10 2010/11

OUR FAMILIES, CHILDREN, YOUTH, ELDERLY

Number of children immunised through Maternal Child and Health service 5,258 4,618

Council’s ranking for immunisation rates (% of children aged 12 to 15 months fully immunised) 91.6 92.64

Number of hours of child care provided through Family Day Care 162,129. 128,038

Number of young people supported through regular programs, counselling service and activities 8,000 10,394

Number of frail aged and older adults and people with disabilities that have used home and 

community support services 

2,638 3,195

Number of hours of care provided to frail and older adults and people with disabilities 146,369 147,408

UNIVERSAL SERVICES, AMENITY AND PLANNING

Number of households provided refuse/recyclable collections 31,000 (approximately) 31,400 (approximately)

Number of trees maintained in reserves, parks, playgrounds around 42,000 around 42,000 

Km of roads maintained 346km 346km

Km of footpaths maintained 680km 680km

Km of drains maintained 356km 356km

Number of inspections of registered food and health premises 1,653 1,721

Number of planning applications processed 782 821

Number of registered dogs/cats 9,895 10,646

Nicholson St Mall, Footscray
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7.1 Our place
The City of Maribyrnong is located in Melbourne’s inner western 

suburbs and is bounded by the City of Moonee Valley in the north, 

the City of Melbourne in the east, the City of Hobsons Bay in the 

south and the City of Brimbank in the west. The City of Maribyrnong 

also shares a boundary with the Port of Melbourne.

The City of Maribyrnong is formed by the suburbs of Footscray, West 

Footscray, Maribyrnong, Maidstone, Seddon, Yarraville, Kingsville, 

Tottenham and Braybrook.

7.2 Our people
  The current population is estimated at 72,896 persons 

(ABS estimate, June 2010)

 68% of all our residents are aged 18-64 years 

  The City remains the third most disadvantaged municipality in 

Victoria (ABS Socio Economic Disadvantage Index for Areas 

(SEIFA)

 54% of households have no internet connection

 There is a large proportion (28.1%) of lone persons households

 The City’s average weekly household income is $932

  The City has a high rental market - 35% of all households are 

renting (both public and private).

7.3 Our multicultural community
 40% of people were born outside of Australia. 

  The City’s population comes from more than 135 different 

countries, speaking more than 80 languages. 

  The older established groups include residents born in Italy, 

Greece, Macedonia, Serbia, Croatia, Poland, Chile and Turkey; 

while the newer established groups include residents born in 

Vietnam, India, Horn of Africa, Bosnia, Philippines and China. 

  Half (50%) of Maribyrnong’s population speak another 

language. The ten main languages spoken are Vietnamese, 

Cantonese, Greek, Italian, Macedonian, Spanish, Mandarin, 

Serbian, Croatian and Tagalog. 

  Between March 2010 and March 2011 period a total of 644 

persons arrived to Maribyrnong. The top ten country of birth 

groups were: - India, Vietnam, China, Afghanistan, Burma, 

Sri Lanka, Ethiopia, Bangladesh, Iran and Pakistan.

  Today, over 250 Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people live 

in the City of Maribyrnong. 

77..1 OOur pplace
The City offff MaMaMaMaririrr byrnong iss located in Meelbourne’s inn
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7.4  Our working and business 
community

28,035 of residents are employed, with 18% working and living in 

the City of Maribyrnong. The three most popular occupation groups 

of residents (2006 Census) were:

 Professionals (6,737, or 24.0%) 

 Clerical and administrative workers (4,297, or 15.3%) 

 Technicians and trades workers (3,207, or 11.4%)

The City of Maribyrnong is home to approximately 6,500 

businesses. 

Maribyrnong’s four key industries sectors for employment are 

education, health, retail and manufacturing. These sectors generate 

60% of available jobs.

Maribyrnong continues to have a high unemployment rate. The 

City’s unemployment rate was 6.2% for the March quarter 2011, 

which is still above the State average of 5.2% and the Melbourne 

average of 4.9%. 

With a regional educational focus, Victoria University’s two 

Footscray campuses host over 15,000 students and employ close 

to 1,200 staff.

7.5 Wellbeing indicators
  The top three chronic preventable lifestyle diseases for females 

in the City of Maribyrnong are heart disease, type 2 diabetes, 

and depression. For men, the top three diseases are heart 

disease, lung cancer, and stroke.

  Females in Maribyrnong experience the poorest health in 

the Western Region sub-region (with a disease burden rate of 

134.9 disability adjusted life years per 1,000) 

  Males in Maribyrnong have the lowest life expectancy in Victoria 

(74.8 years)

  Approximately 1 in 5 people living in the City of Maribyrnong 

have a disability

  22.1% of households in Maribyrnong are spending 30% or 

more of gross household income on rent or mortgage payments

  24.4% of people living in Maribyrnong are experiencing 

transport limitations

  7.1% of people living in Maribyrnong had experienced food 

insecurity (not having access at all times to enough food to live 

an active and healthy life).

7.6 Changes 
The changes the City of Maribyrnong will continue to see in the next 

fi ve to 20 years include:

  Continued population growth – estimated to grow to 104,404 

persons by year 2031

  Projected population growth is based on an increase of about 

19,000 households

  The average number of persons per household is expected to 

decrease slightly from 2.39 to 2.23 

 An increased wealth gap (haves and have nots) 

  More affl uent residents (higher education, higher income, 

professional jobs)

  An increase in young age groups, especially in the 12-24 years 

and 25–49 years groups

  Changes in land use – increase in residential and high rise 

developments

  Signifi cant increase in residential developments across 

Maribyrnong, particularly medium density

  New infrastructure developments such as the Regional Rail 

Link, Melbourne Port and West Link

  An increase in new arrivals from overseas contributing to 

diversity in the municipality and demand for services

7.7 Local and regional signifi cance
The City of Maribyrnong provides a number of local and regional 

services and facilities of signifi cance. The most notable are 

Footscray Business Centre, Highpoint Shopping Centre, Victoria 

University, Western Hospital, Maribyrnong River, Stony Creek, 

Footscray Park and Whitten Oval.

The City also:

 borders the City of Melbourne

  has easy access to Docklands, and an extensive public 

transport system.

 is the gateway to the Western Region 
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8 Council Planning Framework 

8.1  Working with our Local 
Communities

Events

A snapshot of selected community focused events Council has 

organised, or actively participated in.

   Healthy Homes – Greening Maribyrnong 
Conversations

  Vietnam on a Plate Tours

  Yarraville Markets

  Maribyrnong Makers Market

  Ganesh Festival

  Refugee Week

  Save Water – Act4Nature

  Poppets and Puppets in the Park

  The Big Reveal and Arts Show

  Show us de Money!

  The Very West

  North Western Skate and BMX League

  Street Surfer

  Music, Cruise and Barbecue

  Crowd Theory

  School Holidays Arts Program

  St Jerome’s Laneway Festival

  Pet Expo

   Sound Soup – part of Melbourne Food and 
Vine Festival

Community Needs
and Expectations

Council Plan
(incorporating

Municipal Public
Health Plan)

Annual Action Plan

Department
Business Plans

Key Performance
indicators

(success measures)

Annual Report
(reporting on
outcomes)

Annual Budget Municipal Strategic
Statement



Community Grants

The annual Community Grant Program enables local people, organisations and community groups to undertake projects based on issues 

they are passionate about, which provide a benefi t to the citizens of Maribyrnong and build the community’s capacity. The Grant Program 

is aligned with the Council Plan 2009-13 and supports Council in working with the community to achieve Council’s vision for the future. 

In 2010/11 a total of 61 applications were funded, receiving in total $118,716 in grants to undertake projects. 

CATEGORY NUMBER OF GROUPS FUNDED AMOUNT ALLOCATED $

Social Support 16 5,450

Community Development 26 55,648

Arts and Culture 8 22,000

Social Enterprise and Prosperity 1 500

Environmental Sustainability 6 14,518

Special Projects 4 20,600

Totals 61 $118,716

Maribyrnong City Council ANNUAL REPORT 2010/2011 17

Yarraville Station Plaza, Yarraville
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9 Corporate governance

9.1 Council Meetings 
Maribyrnong Council Meetings are held on a monthly cycle. 

On the second Tuesday of the month, Council holds the Community 

Access and Strategic Policy (CASP) meeting, where residents are 

able to come and present matters of community interest to the 

full Council. 

On the third Tuesday of the month, Council holds the Ordinary 

Council meeting. It is at this meeting that all decisions regarding 

planning matters, policies and programs are made. 

Planning forums are held on the fourth Tuesday of the month. 

This forum enables Councillors to meet with applicants and 

objectors, and hear fi rst hand about proposed developments and 

issues of concern, prior to making a planning decision.

Ordinary Meeting of Council – Chair

 July 2010 – December 2010 – Cr Sanli as the Mayor

 December 2010 – June 2011 – Cr Carter as the Mayor

CASP Meeting of Council – Chair

 July 2010 – December 2010 – Cr Zakharov

 December 2010 – June 2011 – Cr Lynch

Planning Forum – Chair

 July 2010 – December 2010 – Cr Lynch

 December 2010 – June 2011 – Cr J Cumming

9.2 Committees and advisory groups
An important part of the role of a Councillor is to represent their 

community on committees. Each year, Councillors are elected to 

committees that have a local or regional focus. 

There is a requirement that Councillors report back to the 

community and their fellow Councillors via the Ordinary Meeting 

of Council each month. This helps Council fulfi l its commitment to 

govern transparently and responsibly. 

9.3  How Council communicates with 
its community

Council is committed to regularly communicating with its diverse 

community in an open and timely manner, using a range of different 

communications tools, including:

  Media relations – issuing media releases and photo 

opportunities, and responding to media requests

 Weekly advertisements in local newspapers

  Regularly posting updates to Council’s Facebook and 

Twitter pages

  Community Update packs – incorporating the Maribyrnong 

News residents’ newsletter – delivered three times a year to all 

local households and businesses 

  Making information and publications available at Community 

Information Points at Council facilities (for events, consultations 

and services information) 

  The comprehensive Council web site 

www.maribyrnong.vic.gov.au

  Community education events and activities, for example, 

water saving forums

Council also seeks community input through its Annual Community 

Survey. This year, Council will conduct its seventh in-depth survey.

Eight hundred residents are randomly selected across the eight 

suburbs (100 per suburb) and interviewed face to face. The survey 

measures ‘level of importance’ and ‘level of satisfaction’ with key 

council services and facilities, and identifi es issues of importance to 

the community. Key survey results are reported in this report against 

the Council Plan six key commitment areas.
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COMMITTEE/ADVISORY GROUP COUNCILLOR REPRESENTATION

2009/10 2010/11

Audit Committee Cr Sanli

Cr Lynch

Cr J Cumming

Cr Carter

Cr Lynch

Cr J Cumming

Big West Festival Board Cr Zakharov Cr Zakharov

Brooklyn Community Reference Group (formerly Brooklyn Odours Committee) Cr Clarke Cr Clarke

Disability Advisory Committee Cr Sanli Cr Carter

Heritage Advisory Committee Cr Zakharov Cr Zakharov

Highpoint Structure Plan Project Advisory Committee Cr Lynch Cr Lynch

LeadWest Board Cr Clarke Cr Carter

Living Museum of the West Board n/a Cr Zakharov

Cr Lynch

Maribyrnong Arts and Cultural Advisory Committee Cr Zakharov Cr Zakharov

Maribyrnong Drug Strategy Reference Group Cr J Cumming

Cr Zakharov

Cr Lynch

Cr J Cumming

Cr Zakharov

Cr Lynch

Maribyrnong Safety Taskforce Cr C Cumming Cr J Cumming

Melbourne Metropolitan Waste Management Group Cr C Cumming Cr C Cumming

Metropolitan Transport Forum Cr Zakharov Cr Zakharov

Municipal Association of Victoria – Environmental Advisory Group Cr Clarke n/a

Municipal Association of Victoria – Human Services Advisory Group Cr Clarke Cr Clarke

Municipal Association of Victoria Cr Clarke

Cr J Cumming (sub)

Cr Clarke

Cr J Cumming (sub)

North West Transmission Lines Reference Group Cr Lynch n/a

Regional Rail Link Community Reference Group n/a Cr Zakharov

Roadsafe West Gate Community Road Safety Committee Cr Sanli

Cr Carter

Cr Carter

Victorian Local Governance Association Cr Carter

Cr Zakharov

Cr Zakharov

Cr C Cumming

West Footscray Community Plan Reference Group Cr C Cumming n/a

Western Melbourne Tourism Board Cr Carter Cr Carter

Youth Leadership and Advisory Council Cr Carter Cr Sanli
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10.1  Local Government Act
S131 (2) (b) 

The following section provides an overview of the past 12 months of 

operations at Maribyrnong City Council and focuses on:

  Council’s achievement of the 119 actions from the Council Plan 

2009-2013 Annual Action Plan 2010-11

 Signifi cant projects and programs

 Major capital works

The key commitment areas in the Council Plan have a number of 

strategies and actions to ensure the overarching commitments of 

Council are met. 

Council’s Long Term Financial Plan remains the guiding document 

for Council’s fi nances. The Plan is reviewed annually and addresses 

many challenges – the most signifi cant of these being cost shifting 

from other levels of government, repaying Council’s inherited debt 

and managing asset renewal. Council’s Long Term Financial Plan 

relies upon income from other levels of government. 

The Report of Operations also provides information about services 

and the organisation in accordance with the requirements of the 

Local Government Act 1989.

10.2 Council Plan 2009-13

Report on 2010/11 Actions 

The Council Plan 2009-2013 was developed and adopted by 

Council in 2009. In order to achieve the stated vision Council 

identifi ed six key commitment areas, as follows:

1 BUILDING COMMUNITY SPIRIT, ENGAGEMENT AND PLACES

2 PROSPERITY

3 MOVING AROUND THE CITY

4 AMENITY 

5 ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

6 ORGANISATIONAL PERFORMANCE

As part of annual planning process, Council has committed to 119 

actions across the six key commitment areas. Progress on these 

actions has been reported to Council on a quarterly basis, providing 

ongoing transparency to show how Council is tracking on each of 

the actions.

Using a corporate performance reporting system, Council has 

adopted a ‘traffi c lights’ approach to demonstrate its performance 

against each action. The overall achievement of actions is presented 

below: 

Completion of Actions

The actions that were not fully completed or deferred (4.2%) were 

due to a number of reasons including risk factors, delay in State 

Government decisions/funding, reallocation of funds to address 

constraints, lack of resources and external funding. 

Actions deferred to 2011/12

 Landscape design for Railway Reserve

 Review of Waste Minimisation Strategy

 Review of Council’s Fleet operations

The next section of the report provides an overview of each action, 

its completion status, and strategic indicators for each of the six key 

commitment areas. 

10 Report of operations 

Actions fully completed

Actions substantially completed

Actions not fully completed or deferred
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10.3 Building community spirit, engagement and places

Strategic Objective

We will build community spirit through the provision of quality 

facilities, responsive services and people based places with a focus

on proactive engagement and community participation in civic life.

STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Plan for adequate, 
appropriate, accessible 
and integrated physical 
and social infrastructure 
for our growing and 
changing communities.

Developed a Strategic Investment Plan through the Maribyrnong Strategic Partnership, 

to facilitate Government investment in the City of Maribyrnong.

Facilitated and supported a Network of Community Centres and Neighbourhood 

Houses within the City of Maribyrnong.

Investigated options for enabling greater access to library services via a review of 

opening hours. Library hours have been extended at three libraries.

Continued to further develop the designs and model for children and family hubs 

across the municipality.

Undertaken planning for the reforms to early years service that will commence in 

2013 to ensure adequate infrastructure and service delivery response.

Landscape design for Railway Reserve, Footscray was not completed and will be 

carried forward to 2011-12.

Developed a Synthetic Sportsground Strategy.

Reviewed and updated the Stony Creek Directions Plan.

Commenced the design process for the development of additional change rooms at 

the Maribyrnong Aquatic Centre.

Provide opportunities 
that encourage and foster 
citizen engagement and 
participation in decision 
making processes.

Continued to implement Year 2 of the CALD Communications Strategy.

Established and implemented the Older Person’s Reference Group in the City of 

Maribyrnong.

Reviewed the Council Plan 2009-13 to ensure its continued relevance and developed 

an Annual Action Plan for 2011-12.

Provided opportunities for community members to volunteer at their local community 

centre or library.

Developed leadership and participation opportunities for young people through the 

new Youth Leadership Forum and Youth Leadership Network.

Implemented the Maribyrnong Community Engagement Framework.

Action completely achieved (100%)

Action substantially achieved (70%+)

Action not fully completed (less than 70%)
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STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Promote the City’s arts, 
culture, heritage and 
diversity.

Supported the initiatives of the Heritage Advisory Committee.

Developed a draft Heritage Interpretation Strategy.

Restored the Avenue of Honour memorial plaques and draft design of a new 

memorial park.

Advocated for the redevelopment of Footscray Wharf with opportunities for 

heritage interpretation.

Developed the Interfaith Network in partnership with the City of Brimbank.

Created opportunities for the community to participate in community celebrations by 

hosting annual events at the community centres.

Taken an active leadership role in the community for promoting Reconciliation (events 

and activities for example NAIDOC week, community Flag raising).

Promoted the Australian Indigenous collection held in library services to develop 

understanding, harmony and an appreciation of the indigenous heritage of Maribyrnong.

Provided a range of arts and culture programs for young people at the Phoenix Youth 

Facility (eg. FREEZA, school holiday programs).

Facilitated the “Urban Signs” graffi ti art project with young people at the Phoenix 

Youth Centre.

Continued to improve and promote Footscray’s retail environment and cultural 

offerings via Footscray Renewal marketing.

Conducted eleven Maribyrnong Walking Tours.

Established an Arts and Cultural Advisory Committee.

Commenced the review of the Arts and Cultural Strategy.

Plan new residential 
developments that 
integrate into existing 
neighbourhoods, are 
designed to promote a 
sense of community, 
and contribute to the 
provision of public 
spaces, community 
facilities and services.

Worked closely with VicUrban, in developing planning directions for the Northern 

Maribyrnong Defence site.

Implemented the Neighbourhood Character Study character statements and 

design guidelines.

Prepared a draft Municipal Housing Strategy.

Progressed to develop the design of the Braybrook Community Centre to include 

a library.

10 Report of operations 
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STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Promote environments 
that support the health 
and wellbeing of the 
community.

Developed and maintained ongoing annual calendar of events for seniors.

Planned and coordinated a range of activities for the Victorian Seniors.

Reviewed in consultation with senior citizens groups, current services and activities 

offered within the centres. 

Led a “Child Friendly City” approach through implementation of the Maribyrnong Early 

Years Plan.

Implemented the Maribyrnong Public Drinking Strategy.

Developed a Food Security Strategy and implemented Year 1 Action Plan.

Integrated health and wellbeing into core Council policies, strategies and actions.

Implemented Council related actions in the Western Region Strategy for the prevention of 

violence against women.

Advocated for high standard registered rooming houses in the City.

Participated in the International Student Emergency Awareness to improve fi re safety 

and emergency awareness in private rental accommodation.

Continued to implement the Maribyrnong Respect and Equity: Preventing Violence 

Against Women project.

Developed a social marketing campaign to raise awareness of violence against women 

and challenge violent and disrespectful attitudes and behaviours towards women.

Implemented the Community Mental Health Promotion Plan.
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Strategic Indicators 

The Graph below shows the results for a number of indicators 

relating to ‘Building Community Spirit, Engagement and Places’ 

key commitment area.

LEVEL OF SATISFACTION (Percentage %)

Community
Facilities

Council’s
decision

making and
seeking

community
opinion

Services for
the Seniors

Services for
Children

Services
for Youth

2009

Source: Annual Community Survey 2010

MAC Feeling Safe
(during day)

2010

100

80

60

40

20

10

30

50

70

90

0

Wellbeing Outcomes

The completion of the 46 actions relating to ‘Building Community 

Spirit, Engagement and Places’ key commitment area has 

contributed to the following wellbeing outcomes:

  Improving city design promoting attractive and 

inclusive neighbourhoods

  Improving city wide facilities, open space and 

recreations services

 Improved community safety

  Increased community harmony and improved social interaction 

and community participation

10 Report of operations 

Bike paths, West Footscray
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10.4 PROSPERITY

Strategic Objective

We will facilitate and advocate for better access to education, 

housing, health, employment and cultural services for all residents 

so they have every opportunity to reach their full potential.

Action completely achieved (100%)

Action substantially achieved (70%+)

Action not fully completed (less than 70%)

STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Promote and support 
a skilled community 
that is adaptable to 
changing workforce 
needs through education, 
training, business 
skills development and 
promoting life-long 
learning.

Promoted training opportunities for local businesses such as Business Expo.

Continued to facilitate employment opportunities and experiences at Council for 

people from diverse backgrounds.

Created and supported adult education opportunities across the municipality.

Provided internet classes to users on a one to one basis and small groups via libraries 

and community centres.

Established partnerships to deliver homework and tutoring support programs.

Provided traineeship and work experience opportunities in Council for young people.

Facilitated the L2P learner driver volunteer mentor program to assist young people 

gain driving experience.

Support industries and 
businesses which will 
create varied employment 
opportunities and enhance 
the social and economic 
wellbeing of residents.

Supported trader associations by providing administrative support.

Implemented the Highpoint Structure Plan and Central West Structure Plan.

Prepared the draft Maribyrnong Economic and Industrial Development Strategy.

Develop programs to 
increase and encourage 
community activities/
entertainment within the 
public realm.

Improved public access to technology – by providing library users with greater 

bandwidth access and implement a pilot program of WiFi availability.

Conducted Place Making Activities within Footscray Central Activities District (CAD) 

to activate key urban spaces in the centre – activities to include leisure and physical 

programs, Footscray Flicks, Progressive Dinner, Heritage Walks.

Developed a Maribyrnong Festival Policy.

Developed a draft Responsible Gambling Policy.
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STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Investigate opportunities 
for private-public 
partnership to plan and 
deliver the required 
infrastructure for current 
and future communities.

Continued to advocate for State Government support and funding for the Footscray 

Renewal Initiative including investment in social infrastructure and programs.

Strategic Indicators 

The Graph below shows the results for a number of indicators 

relating to ‘Prosperity’ key commitment area.

LEVEL OF SATISFACTION (Percentage %) 
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10.5 MOVING AROUND THE CITY

Strategic Objective

We will plan, implement, manage and advocate for transport and 

parking systems for the City that enable people to get around 

and arrive safely at their destination, with a positive impact on 

community wellbeing and the environment.

Action completely achieved (100%)

Action substantially achieved (70%+)

Action not fully completed (less than 70%)

STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Develop and promote 
safe, accessible, 
environmentally and 
economically sustainable 
transport infrastructure.

Reviewed the Community Bus Program.

Continued implementing the Bus Services Review with State Government.

Continued implementing the Maribyrnong Strategic Bicycle Plan.

Completed construction of the Cross Street and Rupert Street shared path in West 

Footscray.

Completed the Yarraville Station Plaza redevelopment.

Promote and support 
life-long mobility, ensuring 
access for all ages and 
abilities through our City.

Completed the Walking Plan for the City.

Commenced the Review of the Maribyrnong Integrated Transport Strategy.

Completing the Northern Maribyrnong Transport Strategy to incorporate 

community input.

Advocate to both State 
and Federal Governments 
for new and improved 
transport infrastructure.

Advocated for public transport upgrades in the inner west, including participation in 

the Metropolitan Transport Forum campaigns and the Western Transport Alliance.

Monitored and reported on progress in the planning of the key projects in the Victorian 

Transport Plan.

Continued to liaise with Melbourne Port Corporation on Port development activities.

Continued to work with VicRoads to monitor and enforce compliance of the 

truck restrictions.

Continued to implement Footscray Parking Management Plan recommendations.

Monitored and reported on progress of State Government Renewal actions, including 

the Footscray Station Redevelopment.
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STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Ensure the City’s traffi c 
management system can 
move people, goods and 
services safely, effi ciently 
and conveniently.

Consulted with community and stakeholders on the planning and implementation of 

local traffi c management works.

Responded to requests for parking restriction reviews.

Strategic Indicators 

The Graph below shows the results for a number of indicators 

relating to ‘Moving Around the City’ key commitment area.

LEVEL OF SATISFACTION (Percentage %)
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10.6 AMENITY

Strategic Objective

We will create a well planned City and improve its amenity by 

creating streets and spaces, neighbourhoods and public places that 

are safe, sustainable, well used and the pride of the community.

Action completely achieved (100%)

Action substantially achieved (70%+)

Action not fully completed (less than 70%)

STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Provide integrated and 
responsive actions 
(planning enforcement, 
building control, local law, 
animal management and 
customer responses) to 
maximise public amenity 
and safety.

Developed an integrated Rooming House Assessment Protocol and Risk 

Management Plan.

Commenced the review of the Domestic Animal Management Plan.

Continued the implementation of the Parking Safety Around Schools program.

Raised community awareness of Rooming Houses Regulations and Requirements 

through the development of Policy and a software system,

Continued to monitor and enforce Building regulations relating to essential 

safety measures.

Reviewed the Syringe Management Strategy.

Improve and maintain the 
quality and accessibility 
of social and physical 
infrastructure through 
development and 
implementation of policies 
and actions to improve the 
built environment.

Reviewed and revised the Maribyrnong Early Years Infrastructure Plan.

The Streetscape Plan for Leeds St between Irving St and Byron Street has been 

delayed due to the construction of the tram stop and City West Water recently 

installing a new main in Leeds Street. Works are programmed to be completed by 

early September 2011.

Reviewed and implemented recommendations of the Seddon Urban Design 

Framework – streetscape and street tree planting projects in consultation with the 

community.

Completed Stage 1 construction of the Barkly Village Streetscape Plan as a 

recommendation of the West Footscray Urban Design Framework.

Developed the draft City Design Strategy to improve the “fi t out” of the public realm. 

This involved public consultation on the draft Strategy.

Implemented recommendations from the Footscray at Night Lighting Strategy – 

street lighting improvements, creative light installations.

Reviewed and update the Tree Planting Policy. 

Co-ordinated the development of Council’s overall capital expenditure program 

(11/12 to 13/14).
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STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Continue to manage and 
renew our assets.

Completed the redevelopment of the Clare Court Children’s Centre.

Completed the redevelopment of the playground at the Norfolk St Child Care Centre.

Completed 97% of the Road Improvement Program.

Completed 95% of the capital works program for Council facilities. 

Delivered 85% of reactive and scheduled maintenance services for Council building 

facilities. For example, refurbishments.

Managed environmental issues associated with land contamination.

Implemented 75% of the Road Management Plan required through improved civil 

maintenance plans.

Commenced to develop proactive maintenance programs for Council parks, sporting 

grounds and playgrounds – achieving agreed standards and community expectation. 

Awaiting outcomes from the parks and Gardens service review program.

Strategic Indicators 

The Graph below shows the results for a number of indicators 

relating to ‘Amenity’ key commitment area.

LEVEL OF SATISFACTION (Percentage %)
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Wellbeing Outcomes

The completion of the 22 actions under the ‘Amenity’ objective has 

contributed to the following wellbeing outcomes:

  Improved city design that promotes attractive and 

inclusive neighbourhoods

  City wide facilities and open space that improve access to 

leisure and recreational facilities

10 Report of operations 
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10.7 ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Strategic Objective

We value our precious environmental resources. In partnership with 

our community we will lead, trial, and promote sustainable practice.

STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Educate, inform and 
lead by example 
in environmental 
sustainability.

Conducted 11 monthly Greening Maribyrnong Workshops and Green Lunchbox 

sessions for the community on a variety of environmentally sustainability topics. 

Developed four environmental forums/expos targeted at specifi c groups within the 

community with an emphasis on CALD communities.

Continued the implementation of Carbon Neutral Action Plan.

Continued the implementation of the Sustainable Water Use Plan.

Deliver services and 
activities that support the 
preservation of the natural 
environment.

Undertaken water audits at all Early Years Buildings.

Undertaken a Trial – Early Years Sustainability Project – retrofi t an early years building 

for water effi ciency, for example at the MAC Occasional Care Centre.

Reported to Council on Energy Use, Greenhouse Emissions and Water Use at Council 

Buildings and Facilities.

Continued with the implementation of the Greening Footscray Street Tree 

Planting Strategy.

The review and development of the Waste Minimisation Strategy 2009-2013 has been 

postponed to 2011-12 period.

Work in partnership 
and collaboration with 
the community, key 
stakeholders, industries 
and other tiers of 
government, to respond to 
climate change impacts 
and reduce inequalities.

Developed a regional risk assessment and response plan to determine and minimise 

the risks to council assets and services in regards to climate change. 

Continued to act as lead Council working with the MAV in advocating for energy 

effi cient street lighting in the “Give Our Streets The Green Light” Campaign in all 

Victorian Councils. 

Provided assistance to residents in improving the environmental performance 

of their homes through the Sustainable Suburbs in the West regional program,

 through retrofi tting and bulk buy programs for solar technologies, water tanks and 

grey water systems.

Action completely achieved (100%)

Action substantially achieved (70%+)

Action not fully completed (less than 70%)

Footscray Park, Footscray
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Strategic Indicators 

The Graph below shows the results for a number of indicators 

relating to ‘Environmental Sustainability’ key commitment area.

LEVEL OF SATISFACTION (Percentage %)
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10.8 ORGANISATIONAL PERFORMANCE

Strategic Objective

We will develop an organisation that is valued and trusted, and 

facilitate its growth and development to ensure Council is continually 

positioned to respond to the challenges of providing a best practice 

service to our diverse community.

STRATEGY ACTIONS – WHAT HAVE WE ACHIEVED COMPLETION STATUS

Develop systems and 
processes that are 
innovative, continually 
improving and ensure 
accountability and 
responsiveness.

Continued to develop and report on organisational performance measures and 

accountabilities, for example, Quarterly Organisational Health Indicators, Quarterly 

progress reports to Council on Council Plan Annual Actions.

Implemented the second year of Council’s (5 year) Occupational Health and Safety 

and Injury Management action plan.

Implemented Council’s Continuous Improvement Framework, with two business units 

participating in service review pilot program.

Developed an Asset Management Framework and supporting business processes in 

accordance with IT Strategy and Government Reform Initiatives.

Developed processes to ensure systematic and continued investigation and monitoring 

of Rooming Houses to minimise health and safety risk to residents. 

Review of Council’s fl eet operations has been deferred to 2011-12.

Develop our staff to 
optimise the performance 
of the organisation to 
deliver quality outcomes 
for the community.

Continued to develop and implement systems, processes and accountabilities in 

relation to risk, contracting, contract management and procurement.

Develop an organisational 
culture driven by our 
core values to achieve a 
clear and common focus 
shared by Councillors, 
management and staff.

Continued to implement employee learning opportunities to reinforce Council’s 

organisational leadership and community service expectations.

Action completely achieved (100%)

Action substantially achieved (70%+)

Action not fully completed (less than 70%)
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Strategic Indicators 

The Graph below shows the results for a number of indicators 

relating to ‘Organisational Performance’ key commitment area.

LEVEL OF SATISFACTION (Percentage %)
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11.1  Major projects, programs and 
improvements

11.1.1 Projects / Programs

Community Infrastructure Planning – Council has undertaken 

a process to understand the current and future demands on 

Community Infrastructure – facilities and spaces that support a well 

functioning community, such as libraries, community centres, early 

years facilities, sports pavilions, open spaces and pedestrian and 

cycling networks.

This work will ensure Council understands and can appropriately 

respond to population growth and the emerging needs of the 

community. 

With forecast population growth of over 30,000 (or about 42%) for 

the municipality in the next 20 years, combined with demographic 

change, it is critical that Council plan for this. The Community 

Infrastructure Planning work will not only identify priority community 

infrastructure, but also enable Council to determine where and how 

this should be provided to support the needs and general well being 

of the community. 

Rezoning of Bradmill Site – The Minister for Planning approved 

Council’s proposal to rezone the land at the former Bradmill site in 

Yarraville, to allow residential and business development.

The 26 hectare site is 8km from the Melbourne CBD and will 

see 1200-plus new dwellings built on the former industrial site, 

including a new state-of-the-art library for local residents. 

Footscray Masterplan – A Masterplan for Footscray is being 

developed to assist the community, Council and State Government 

through the transition.

Footscray is a Central Activities Area and as such serves a role 

in accommodating an increasing population. This growth and 

development needs to be complemented by quality streets and 

spaces, community facilities and recreation opportunities to improve 

its livability. The Masterplan will identify and prioritise a series of 

public real improvements for action.

Rooming House Management Program – A new web based 

rooming house management program has been developed to 

ensure the health and safety of people living in rooming houses. 

The program which is part of the Customer Request platform will;

  Register, monitor and provide regular reporting on the growing 

number of rooming houses in the city; and

  Track and integrate the various Council actions and legal 

responsibilities across three separate areas of State Government 

legislation pertaining to rooming houses.

The innovative program, aims to take an integrated whole of Council 

approach to managing the risks associated with the predicted 

increase in legal and illegal rooming houses.

CCTV in Footscray Central – Council has begun work to install a 

CCTV camera network to monitor public spaces in central Footscray. 

The Close Circuit TV (CCTV) System is aimed to provide a higher 

level of safety in public spaces for residents, traders, shoppers and 

other visitors to Footscray. 

In total, 27 CCTV cameras will be installed in 16 locations in the 

major pedestrian areas in central Footscray.

The CCTV system is jointly funded by Council and the 

State Government.

Council allocated $1.1 million for security measures in Footscray’s 

CBD, including CCTV cameras.

The State Government contributed $400,000 in recognition of safety 

as a community priority.

11 City leadership and management

The following is a snapshot of Council’s diverse programs, projects, 
services and responsibilities over the past 12 months.

Wellbeing Outcome

Contributing to City wide facilities and open 
space, improved social interaction.

Wellbeing Outcome

Improved access to appropriate housing 
and shelter.

Wellbeing Outcome

Improved Community Safety.
Wellbeing Outcome

Improved city design that promotes attractive 
and inclusive neighbourhoods.
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11 City leadership and management

Looking Glass project – Council ran an eight week ‘The Looking 

Glass’ project which helped 13 young women examine their life 

and use art to piece together essential life skills at the Phoenix 

Youth Centre. 

The project was initiated by Footscray Police with support and 

funding from Council and assisted by the Australian Federal Police, 

Melbourne City Mission, YMCA, Western Region Health Service and 

Women’s Health West. 

The project aimed to strengthen relationships between young 

women and police and target risk factors facing young woman.

Festival City – Council has allocated $400,000 in the 2011-12 

Budget to fund cultural celebrations and festivals for the coming 

fi nancial year.

The majority of the budget allocation will form a $270,000 Festival 

Funding Program, established to allow community groups to apply 

for funding to help cover the cost of staging events. This is more 

than double the amount available in the 2010/11 fi nancial year. 

The funding is in line with Council’s new Festival Policy and Plan 

aimed to create a cohesive and integrated annual festivals program. 

The Maribyrnong Story – The Maribyrnong Story is a web based 

resource that provided current information on community needs 

and Council actions that directly affect the health and wellbeing of 

the Maribyrnong community.

This resource enables Council and its partners to plan programs 

and services that keep our community healthy now and for future 

generations.

The Maribyrnong Story is divided into four chapters: Life Needs: 

Requisites for health; Social and Community Life: Belonging; and 

Livability: Environments for Health. A fourth chapter, Ill Health and 

Contributing Behaviours, has been included to complete the story 

and provide an overview of the prevalence of poor health 

in the community.

The new resource builds on Council’s commitment in 2009 to be 

the fi rst local government in Victoria to integrate the Municipal 

Public Health Plan into the Council Plan. 

Extending Library hours and collections – Council provided an 

additional funding of $57,000 in the 2011/12 Budget to extend 

opening hours at three libraries: Yarraville, Maribyrnong and 

West Footscray in response to requests from the community.

The extended opening hours will provide the residents with 

even greater opportunity to access Council’s high quality 

resources, encompassing books, multi-media and information 

technology services.

Council also allocated an additional $615,000 to purchase 

additional collection resources including physical items for loan 

such as books, other print items and multimedia, and access to 

digital and e-resources, supplementing and offering alternative 

ways to access content. 

Finding services on line – Council continued to improve its on line 

communications with residents. A new online service locator allows 

residents to use Council’s website to fi nd Council services related to 

their home address, such as rubbish and recycling collection days, 

their closest libraries, community centres and parks.

Council’s online service locator gives residents a quick and easy way 

to get information about Council services, and provides up to date 

information about basic Council services. 

Cogeneration energy plant @ MAC – Council has built a new 

cogeneration energy plant at the Maribyrnong Aquatic Centre (MAC) 

aimed at reducing the centre’s carbon emissions by 59 per cent – 

an energy saving equivalent to taking 480 cars off the road 

each year.

The cogeneration plant provides 79 per cent of the centre’s 

electrical needs and converts what would otherwise be wasted heat 

created by the plant into a useful energy source to heat the pools. 

The cogeneration plant at MAC provides signifi cant environmental 

benefi ts, by reducing our carbon footprint at the centre we move 

closer to our carbon neutral goals.

The cogeneration unit supplies 265kW of energy on a continuous 

basis to MAC. 

Council’s 2011 Sustainability Expo – Council held four Expos 

on environmental issues, with a strong focus on sustainable food 

and eating. Council is committed to providing quality information 

and events for our community supporting sustainability 

and environment.

Wellbeing Outcome

Improved community connections through 
participation in arts and culture.

Wellbeing Outcome

Increased responsiveness, productivity and 
fi nancial sustainability of Council.

Wellbeing Outcome

Improved protection of the environment and 
more sustainable use of natural resources.
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The ‘Preserving the Harvest’ expo aimed to share information and 

skills to educate residents in the best ways to preserve the food they 

are growing, while it is abundant, fresh and at its seasonal peak, 

with an aim to cut down on waste and learn skills to enjoy and 

preserve food.

The Sustainability Expo supports Council’s Carbon Neutral Action 

Plan, Peak Oil Policy and Sustainable Water Management Plan.

Environmental Sustainability Award – Council has received an 

environmental sustainability award for its efforts to conserve water. 

The International Council for Local Environmental Initiatives (ICLEI) 

awarded the Water Campaign, Milestone 4, certifi cate to Council.

The award demonstrates Council’s leadership in the area of 

water management.

The Water Campaign is an international freshwater management 

program that builds the capacity of local government to reduce 

water consumption and improve local water quality.

Council is committed to encouraging environmentally sustainable 

practices at workplace and in the wider community through 

practical initiatives and education programs.

Savings have been achieved by retrofi tting council buildings with 

water effi cient showerheads, replacing single-fl ush toilets with 

dual fl ush toilets and maximising the use of tank water. Council 

has also been able to signifi cantly reduce the amount of water 

used on sportsgrounds by sowing warm season grasses which 

need less water.

Food Security – Council developed a new Food Security Policy 

2011-2013 defi ning the scope of food insecurity and the role of 

Council in reducing the fundamental inequities and local barriers to 

accessing, consuming and preparing food.

This Policy aims to provide a strategic framework to inform and 

guide current and future work across Council, with stakeholders and 

in the community over the next three years. 

Incredible, Edible, Moveable, Maribyrnong (Healthy Communities 
Initiative) - Council was successful in receiving a grant of 

$703,006 over two years under the Federal Government’s Healthy 

Communities Initiative grant Maribyrnong was one of seven Victorian 

Council’s funded. Incredible, Edible, Moveable Maribyrnong aims to 

reduce the prevalence and incidence of chronic disease in the City 

of Maribyrnong.

The project aligns with Council’s primary objective to promote and 

protect the wellbeing of the community, through improving the 

immediate and long term health and wellbeing outcomes of the 

Maribyrnong residents. 

Equal opportunities for women and prevent violence against 
women – Council has worked with the community to formulate 

a series of public statements that will be used across the city to 

promote equal opportunities for women and prevent violence 

against women. Council’s aim was to publicly declare that the 

community and Council say ‘Yes’ to respect and equality and ‘No’ 

to violence against women. The statements, once fi nalised, will 

serve as a public show of support to visitors and members of our 

community alike the importance of respect and equality.

Creating employment opportunities for people with disabilities 

– Council developed a 13 week paid work experience program 

for people with disabilities. The program offered medium term 

induction and real work experience, and in particular, aimed to 

  develop the employment skills and pathway opportunities of 

people with a disability

 develop the diversity of Council’s workforce 

  provide Council staff with improved capacity to support 

employees of all abilities and demonstrate leadership and 

innovation in inclusive employment practices.

Three people participated in the program with one of the 

participants being offered a permanent employment position.

Wellbeing Outcome

Improved access to opportunities that support 
life-long learning.

Wellbeing Outcomes

Improved community attitudes and behaviours 
that promote gender equity and respectful 
relationships.

Wellbeing Outcome

Improved access to healthy and affordable food.

Improved access to health and support services 
for those at risk of health inequality.
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11.1.2 Projects / Capital Improvement 

Clare Court Children’s Centre – Council completed the $3.5 million 

redevelopment of Clare Court Children’s Centre in Yarraville. The 

redevelopment will increase the capacity of the long day care, 

kindergarten, playgroup and maternal and child health services and 

provide space for new specialist services.

The Clare Court Children’s Centre redevelopment is the fi rst of 

fi ve integrated children and family hubs proposed across the 

municipality, and is a one-stop-shop for children’s services.

The project was funded by Council and the State and Federal 

Governments.

The Federal Government has contributed $1.6 million, the State 

Government $500,000 and Council made up the balance of $1.4 

million.

Leeds Street – A total of $2.5 million was spent on the Leeds 

Street in Central Footscray redesign project, a partnership between 

Council and State Government. The redesign project included 

upgrade to roads and footpaths to improve pedestrian safety and 

traffi c fl ow and new lighting and landscape will be implemented as 

part of the project. 

Leeds Street provides access to one of Footscray’s most signifi cant 

public transport and retail hubs. These improvements have greatly 

enhanced the appeal of Central Footscray and pave the way for 

future development.

The project is part of the Footscray Renewal Program, a partnership 

between Council and the State Government which is bringing about 

many signifi cant changes in Central Footscray. 

Additional funding of $140,000 has also been received from 

Melbourne Water to install Water Sensitive Urban Design tree.

Yarraville Station Plaza – Council completed a $738,000 project 

to transform Yarraville Station Plaza into a pedestrian friendly 

urban space.

The project was funded by Maribyrnong City Council ($106,000), 

the Victorian Government’s Local Area Access Program ($413,000), 

the Australian Government’s Regional and Local Community 

Infrastructure Program ($169,000) and Melbourne Water 

($50,000).

The project will improve safety and access to public transport 

as part of the Yarraville Village Urban Design and Traffi c 

Management Strategy.

A new park space has also been created with improved lighting, 

new feature seats, tree plantings and a screen wall.

Yarraville Oval Works – Signifi cant improvement works have been 

undertaken to the Yarraville Oval.

New paving and an improved landscape setting around Yarraville 

Oval will provide better connections between neighbouring facilities 

which include the ‘Free to Public’ tennis courts, Yarraville Skate 

Park, Yarraville West Primary School, the Mouth Organ Society 

Rooms and streets that border the Reserve.

Yarraville Oval will provide passive and structured recreation spaces 

for the Maribyrnong Community.

Other Projects

In addition to the above, Council has also worked on the following 

projects:

  Footscray Community Art Centre (developed a Performance 

Centre and the Art Gallery)

  Footscray at Night implementations – lighting installation 

(Paisley St, Nicholson St, Irving Place and Pickett St car park)

 Whitten Oval Redevelopment Landscape upgrade

Wellbeing Outcome

Improved equitable access to and participation 
in child friendly facilities, spaces and services.

Wellbeing Outcome

Improved access to healthy travel options, 
including walking, cycling and user-friendly 
public transport.

Wellbeing Outcome

Improved city design that promotes attractive 
and inclusive neighbourhoods.

Wellbeing Outcome

City wide facilities and open space that improve 
access to leisure and recreational 
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11.2 Urban Amenity Improvements

11.2.1 Parks and Reserves

Upgrades were made to the following parks and reserves

 Footscray Hockey Club – renewal of synthetic turf surface

 Braybrook Community and Sports Hub

 Skinner Reserve Pavilion redevelopment, Braybrook

  Sportsground turf replacement (Hamner Reserve, Pennell 

Reserve, McIvor Reserve, Angliss Reserve)

 Footscray Park Master Plan Implementation

 McIvor Reserve Wembley Park Pavilion, Yarraville

11.2.2 Playgrounds

Playground

A new $120,000 neighbourhood park has been completed in 

Braybrook and is infl uenced by the land’s former use as a RAAF 

site. The site features a playground with an air traffi c control tower 

with high slide, a cubby, a set of swings and a rocking jeep, seating, 

and hard paved areas.

The playground revitalises a former industrial site and opens it up 

for the community 

Council has upgraded or replaced the following playgrounds:

 Edgewater Playground and landscape setting (Maribyrnong)

  Cranwell Reserve – playground upgrade and renewal 

(Braybrook)

  Norfolk St Child Care Centre – playground redevelopment 

(Yarraville)

11.2.3 Bicycle Paths

The City of Maribyrnong has 22km on road bike lanes and 22km 

off road paths, including 8km of shared walking and cycling path 

beside the Maribyrnong River.

West Footscray shared bike path – Council completed the 

construction of a shared bike and pedestrian path in West Footscray 

along Cross and Rupert Streets. Funding for the path came from 

State and Federal Governments, Melbourne Water's Living Rivers 

program and Council's capital works program. 

The project has improved the look of the area between Cross and 

Rupert Streets by landscaping and new planting. The project has 

incorporated elements of water sensitive urban design to fi lter 

pollutants from storm water and to irrigate street trees and plants.

Hyde Street Bike Lanes – Bike lanes have been marked along 

Hyde Street aimed to provide safe passage for all forms of transport. 

11.2.4 Footpaths

Footpath improvement projects completed (footpath grinding and 

replacement Program and DDA compliance):

FOOTPATHS

Anderson St, Yarraville – (Fehon to Railway Xing – (North & South side))

Free St, Yarraville

Gladstone St, Yarraville – (Fehon to Railway Line – South Side)

Gordon Pde, Yarraville

Gordon St, Footscray – (Barkly St to Cross St – West Side)

Buninyong St, Yarraville – (Simpson to Francis – West Side)

Francis St, Yarraville – (Freame to Jewell – North Side)

Geelong Rd, West Footscray – (Somerville to Roberts – North Side) 

Somerville Rd, Yarraville – (Storey to Gamon – North Side)

Williamstown Rd, Seddon – (Pilgrim to Sydenham – East Side)

Nicholson St, Footscray – (Napier to Buckley – West Side)

Somerville Rd, Yarraville – (Roberts to Stony Creek – South Side) 

Wingfi eld St, Footscray – (Moreland to Whitehall – North Side)

Maribyrnong River, Footscray

Anderson St, Yarraville
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11.2.5 Roads

Roads resurfacing were undertaken in the following streets:

ROADS

Aliwal St, West Footscray

Burnett Ave, Braybrook – 

(Commenced in 09/10 year and completed in 10/11 fi nancial year)

Anderson St, Yarraville

Bunbury St, Footscray – Stage 3 – 

(Commenced June 2011 and to be completed August 2011

Gamon St, Yarraville – Stage 1 – 

(Commenced 09/10 year and completed in 10/11 fi nancial year) 

Gamon St, Seddon – (Stage 2) 

Khartoum St, West Footscray

Lyons St, Footscray

McArthur St, West Footscray

Milton St, West Footscray 

Queensville St, Kingsville – (Stage 2)

Wales St, Kingsville

ROAD RESHEETS

Ann St, Footscray

Barnet St, Seddon 

Buninyong St, Yarraville

Darling St, Footscray

Dawson Ave, Footscray

Rippon St, Footscray

Robinson Rd, Footscray

Hyde St, Seddon – (Nth Bound, btw Somerville Rd & Bristow St)

Rosamond Rd, Maribyrnong – (Nth Bound btw Williamson Rd & White St)

Somerville Rd, Yarraville

Tait St, Footscray

11 City leadership and management

2010/2011

Autumn leaves, Yarraville



Maribyrnong City Council ANNUAL REPORT 2010/2011 41

12.1 Organisational structure as at 30 June 2011

Chief Executive Officer
Vince Haining

General Manager
Infrastructure & Engineering

Services
Ian Butterworth

General Manager
Sustainable Development

Nigel Hiigins

General Manager
Community Wellbeing

Arden Joseph

General Manager
Corporate Services

Stephen Wall

Acting Manager
Sustainability & Environment

Grace Girardi

Manager
Aged & Diversity

Jan Consedine

Manager
Strategy Economic Dev.

David Walmsley

Manager
Engineering Projects

Gary Balcam

Manager
Information Systems

Leigh Anson

Acting Manager
Organisational Development

Paul Anstey

Manager
City Design & Place Making

Matt Slavin

Acting Manager
Civil Design & Transport

Malcom McDonald

Manager
Traffic & Local Laws

Tom Gladwin

Manager
Building Control

Colin Netherclift

Manager
Finance

Bryan Stone

Manager
Emergency Management

Theo Pykoulas

Manager
Governance & Community

Relations
Melanie Fleer

Manager
Leisure & Open Space

Lisa King

Manager
Planning & Development

Adrian Havryluk

Manager Operations
& Maintenance

Jodie Maxwell

Manager
Community Planning

& Advocacy
Nick Matteo

Manager
Community Learning

& Libraries
Michael Byrne

Manager
Family Serv & Comm Projects

Lynley Dumble

Manager
Urban Planning

John Karageorge

Manager
Asset Management

& Construction
Paris Zenonos
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Maribyrnong River, Footscray
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12.2 Our Executive Team

12 Our Organisation 

Vince Haining CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Vince Haining was appointed to the CEO position in October 2010. Vince heads a team of four General Managers who take 

a leadership role in ensuring that the organisation delivers on Council’s ‘contract’ with the community in delivering on the 

vision and key commitment areas.

Ian Butterworth GENERAL MANAGER

INFRASTRUCTURE AND ENGINEERING

The Infrastructure and Engineering Branch is responsible for strategic planning and development of Council’s physical 

assets such as the City’s local roads, footpaths, cycle paths, drains and buildings, along with transport planning, parking 

management, traffi c engineering and public lighting.

The Branch is responsible for Parking and Local Laws, including animal management, compliance and school 

crossing supervisors.

The Branch is also responsible for maintenance of assets, including parks and gardens, and providing cleansing services, 

and recycling, garbage, hard waste and green waste collection services.

Nigel Higgins GENERAL MANAGER

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

The Sustainable Development Branch is committed to promoting the long-term sustainable development of the City. 

The Branch has a strong focus on planning for sustainable developments, creating improvements and the renewal of 

public realms, increasing economic development, providing urban planning and building services.

Lisa King held the position of Acting General Manager of Sustainable Development until March 2011.

Stephen Wall GENERAL MANAGER

CORPORATE SERVICES

The Corporate Services Branch provides a diverse range of statutory and non-statutory services that are essential to 

maintain the successful operation and sustainable development of the organisation. These services include all aspects of 

organisational support including Information Technology (IT), organisational development (including human resources, 

occupational health and safety, risk management), communications, governance, customer service, council planning 

and performance, emergency management, sustainability and climate change, and managing the Council in a fi nancially 

responsible and sustainable manner. The Branch is also responsible for Council’s property management function.

Helen Morrissey held the position of General Manager Corporate Services until November 2010.

Jenny McMahon held the position of Acting General Manager Corporate Services from November 2010 until February 2011.

Leigh Anson held the position of Acting General Manager Corporate Services from 4 February 2011 until 28 February 2011.
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12.3 Organisational effectiveness
The Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) requires Council to 

prepare a Strategic Resource Plan (SRP) which includes both 

the fi nancial and non-fi nancial resources required to achieve the 

strategic objectives included in the Council Plan. 

Council’s capacity to deliver the objectives of the Council Plan is 

based on its service culture, people, good governance, business 

systems and technology, asset management, risk and environmental 

management, competent fi nancial planning and the application of 

Best Value principles.

Organisational culture and leadership program

Council is committed to an organisation with strong leadership skills 

and ensuring it takes a learning approach to its work. Council wants 

to be consistently looking at ways to do things better, and provide 

staff with the right skills and support.

Council has developed a leadership model for the organisation. 

This includes 'The Maribyrnong Way' (our organisational values), 

‘Leadership Statements' (the expected behaviours from our leaders) 

and a 'Leadership Development Framework' (to assist staff in 

developing the skills to become effective leaders). 

This model underpins much of Council’s employee-related activity, 

from learning and development programs, through to 

performance reviews. 

Our Organisational Values

In determining the desired culture of the organisation, Council staff 

developed a set of organisational values to guide behaviour:

Respect

This includes the promotion of inclusiveness, empathy, 

communication, and goodwill.

Integrity

This includes the promotion of honesty, loyalty, ethical behaviour, 

and trustworthiness.

Courage

This includes the promotion of innovation, considered risk, 

creativity, problem solving, initiative accountability, and 

responsibility.

Enterprise Agreement

A new three year Enterprise Agreement was completed and agreed 

to with staff and workplace unions. The agreement, which expires in 

June 2013, details the ongoing terms and conditions of employment 

for staff and commits all parties to the continuing fl exibility of work 

practices and hours to meet the needs of the community and 

improving the effectiveness of service delivery.

Arden Joseph GENERAL MANAGER
COMMUNITY WELLBEING 

The focus of Community Wellbeing Branch is to plan and provide services and functions that support the community, 

enhance wellbeing and provide opportunities to participate in the life of the City. 

The Branch delivers a range of services to support the community in all stages of their lives. From early childhood services, 

including maternal and child health, through to services for young people and families, and the older members of the 

community. The Branch promotes a safe and healthy community through public health services, festivals and cultural 

activities. It also focuses on advocacy for emerging critical issues such as public drinking, problem gambling, rooming 

houses and public and affordable housing, as well as planning and managing open space and recreation. The Branch is 

also responsible for leisure and open space, and the Maribyrnong Aquatic Centre.

Andrew Day held the position of Acting General Manager Community Wellbeing until February 2011. 
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Developing integrated corporate planning and a 
performance framework

Council continues to enhance its Corporate Performance Reporting 

system. The system integrates all Council’s corporate planning and 

reporting, including:

 Business Plans

 Council Plan Annual Actions

 Key Performance Indicators

 Capital Works projects

 Council funded initiatives projects

 Organisational health performance indicators

 Best Value principles

 Occupation Health and Safety Strategic Plan

 Contracts and Contract Management Strategic Plan.

Best Value and Continuous Improvement

The current legislation requires councils to report annually to its 

community on its achievements in relation to Best Value principles. 

This means:

  All services provided by Council must meet quality and cost 

standards

  Each service provided by Council must be accessible to those 

members of the community to whom the service is intended

  All services provided by Council must be responsive to the 

needs of the community

  Council must provide continuous improvement in the provision 

of services to its community

  Council must develop program of regular consultation with its 

community in relation to the principles

  Council must report regularly to its community on its 

achievements in relation to the principles.

The Best Value principles have been incorporated into Council’s 

Corporate Performance Manager (PM) system. All service areas 

have a number of performance measures, grouped under Best 

Value principles, and reported in the Performance Manager system.

This year, two service areas participating in the service review pilots: 

Parks and Gardens and Youth Services and Social Support. 

The review process included six key steps, as follows:

The Best Value service review pilot program applied best 

value principles in assessing service levels, consulting with the 

community, benchmarking and service improvement plans.

In 2011/12 Council will roll out Best Value Service Review program 

within selected service areas. Outcomes from these service reviews 

will be reported in the 2011/12 Annual Report.

Customer Service

Council has a Customer Service Charter containing a set of 

standards and principles. The Charter aims to provide high quality 

customer service. It states that Council is committed to simplifying 

processes, fi nding solutions and continuous improvement.

The Charter makes a commitment to ensure all staff provide a 

customer service based around:

 Empathy

 Courtesy

 Prompt attention

 Clear communication

 Privacy and confi dentiality.

Over the 2010/11 period, the customer service team responded 

to 93,184 telephone calls – an average of 388 calls a day.

The total number of customer service requests received and 

responded to was 28,189 – an average of 117 service requests 

a day.

Step 1
Prepare Service
Review Proposal / Scope

Step 2
Understand our service

Step 3
Consult

Step 6
Presentation to EMT

Step 5
Service Improvement
Plan

Step 4
Compare

12 Our Organisation 
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Council is committed to resolving at least 65 calls out of every 

100 at the fi rst point. For 2010/11, on average, customer service 

resolved 79 calls at fi rst point of call out of every 100 calls. 

This is well above Council’s target. The graph below shows the 

monthly data.

CALLS RESOLVED AT FIRST POINT OF CALL

Our staff

As at the end of June 2011, Council’s workforce comprised of 758 

employees (this is based on active paid headcount).

Of the total number of staff, 58.97% were females and 41.03% 

were males.

Profi le of Staff – by Employment Status (full time, part 
time, casual, temporary) 

STAFF EMPLOYMENT STATUS 2010-11

Profi le of Staff – by Age

AGE GROUP OF STAFF

Profi le of Staff – by Turnover 

For the last few years, Council’s staff turnover continued to be lower 

than its target. For 2010/11, Council achieved staff turnover rate of 

9.17% – well below the industry standard of 12.4%.

STAFF TURNOVER

Health and Wellbeing at Maribyrnong

The Health and Wellbeing Program is seen as complimentary to 

the Council’s Occupational Health and Safety Program and the 

Corporate Learning and Development Program.

In this year’s 2010/2011 program, a Health & Wellbeing Expo was 

held at the Town Hall for all staff to attend. Exhibitors from a wide 

range of fi tness, nutrition and general health disciplines were on 

site to provide advice and conduct practical demonstrations and 

assessments.

The Expo was received well by staff who attended, and feedback 

was that it provided benefi cial information to the health and 

wellbeing of staff.
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Learning & Development at Maribyrnong

Council is committed to fostering a workplace where the learning 

and development of employees is valued and actively encouraged. 

The overall purpose of the learning and development policy is to 

enhance the organisation’s capacity to achieve its strategies to meet 

community needs through:

 Improved job knowledge, skills and competencies

 Broadening and deepening of professional skills and capabilities

 Encouragement of individual career development and growth

 Retention of highly skilled and committed staff.

In line with Council’s Learning & Development Policy, the Corporate 

Learning & Development Calendar offered a range of learning 

and development opportunities in corporate, diversity, personal 

effectiveness, leadership, and safety and risk management 

categories.

Risk

Council is committed to productively managing all the risks inherent 

in its operations. Council recognises that effective risk management 

ensures the ongoing delivery of high quality services and amenities. 

Council identifi es and controls its strategic and operational risks by 

adopting an organisation-wide approach. 

Council continues to manage organisational risk across all business 

units. Council implemented a computerised Integrated Risk 

Management system that assists to assess and control risk on an 

enterprise wide basis.

Contracting and Procurement

Council participated in the Local Government Victoria Procurement 

Road Map process and has continued to further strengthen 

its strategic contract and procurement action plan. Council 

has also undertaken a social procurement project to develop a 

range of systems and tools to identify potential social outcomes 

in the procurement process. Council continued to improve its 

procurement systems in line with industry best practice and in 

accordance with the Local Government Act 1989.

Occupational Health and Safety (OH&S)

Council has continued to focus on the Occupational Health and 

Safety (OH&S) Plan 2009-2014 and has further refi ned consultation 

mechanisms and performance reporting. 

Over the past year, the following projects have been completed:

 Completed a number of the OH&S Plan action 

 Completed a review of the OH&S Plan

  OH&S committee and all designated workgroups local safety 

committees continued to meet on a regular basis to resolve 

OH&S issues

  Established a test and tag program for electrical appliances at 

Council facilities

 Reviewed and updated OH&S polices

 Conducted consultation on a number of key OH&S policies

  Developed a new software package ‘Quality Safety Environment 

Integrated Management’ System for use as a database and 

reporting tool for incidents, claims and proactive safety 

measures such as inspections.

12 Our Organisation 
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13 Statutory information 

Information available for inspection

Section 222 of the Local Government Act (the “Act”) entitles 
any person to inspect and take copies of (subject to any fee) 
prescribed accounts and records. The following information is 
available at the Maribyrnong Council Offi ces, Corner Napier & 
Hyde Streets, Footscray, during offi ce hours:

  Details of current allowances fi xed for the Mayor and Councillors 

under section 74 or 74A of the Act

  Listing of senior offi cers by remuneration range and number for 

the current and previous fi nancial year

  A register of delegations kept under sections 87 and 98 of the 

Act, including the date on which the last review under section 

98(6) of the Act took place

  Submissions received in accordance with section 223 of the Act 

during the previous 12 months

  Details of overseas or interstate travel (with the exception of 

interstate travel by land for less than 3 days) undertaken in an 

offi cial capacity by Councillors or any member of Council staff in 

the previous 12 months, including the names of the Councillors 

or members of Council staff and the date, destination, purpose 

and total cost of the overseas or interstate travel

  Agreements to establish regional libraries under section 196 of 

the Act

  Details of all property, fi nance and operating leases involving 

land, buildings, plant, computer equipment or vehicles entered 

into by the Council as lessor or lessee, including the name of the 

other party to the lease and the terms and the value of the lease

  Names of Council offi cers who were required to submit a return 

of interest during the fi nancial year and the dates the returns 

were submitted

  A register of authorised offi cers appointed under section 224 of 

the Act

  Names of councillors who submitted returns of interest during 

the fi nancial year and the dates the returns were submitted

  A list of donations and grants made by the Council during the 

fi nancial year, including the names of persons or bodies which 

have received a donation or grant and the amount of each 

donation or grant

  Agendas and minutes of ordinary and special meetings held in 

the previous 12 months kept under section 93 of The Act except 

if the minutes relate to parts of meetings which have been 

closed to members of the public under section 89 of the Act

  A list of the names of the organisations of which the Council 

was a member during the fi nancial year and details of all 

membership fees and other amounts and services provided 

during that year to each organisation by the Council 

  A list of all special committees established by Council and the 

purpose for which each committee was established

  A list of contracts valued at $100,000 (or such higher amount 

as is fi xed from time to time under section 186(1) of the Act) 

or more –

(i)  which the Council entered into during the fi nancial year 

without fi rst engaging in a competitive process and

(ii)  which are not contracts referred to in section 186 (5) of 

the Act

  A list of all special committees established by Council which 

were abolished or ceased to function during the fi nancial year

  Minutes of meetings of special committees established under 

section 86 of the Act and held in the previous 12 months except 

if the minutes relate to parts of meetings which have been 

closed to members of the public under section 89 of the Act

  In accordance with section 80A of the Act, a record of ‘assembly 

of Councillors’ meetings for a period of 12 months after the date 

of the assembly.

Freedom of Information

The Freedom of Information Act 1982 provides the opportunity 

for public access to Council documents. The Act establishes a 

legally enforceable right for the community to access information 

in document form held by Council. Council received 19 new 

applications under Freedom of Information for the period 

1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011.

Contracts

Maribyrnong City Council did not enter into any contracts valued 

at more than $150,000 other than through a competitive tendering 

process.

Local Laws

Local Laws current at the end of the fi nancial year are:

Local Law No 5  Governance Local Law (2001) – including by 

reference Council’s Code of Meeting Procedure

Local Law No 6  General Purposes Local Law (this local law 

took in elements of former Local Law No 1 

(Environment Local Law) and Local Law No. 2 

(Roads, Municipal Property and Council Land 

Local Law)
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Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 

The Whistleblowers Protection Act 2001 (the Act) was introduced in 

January 2001.

In accordance with the Act, Council has developed procedures to 

facilitate the making of any disclosure that is made in compliance 

with the Act. 

Council has a nominated Protected Disclosure Coordinator, who is 

responsible for the receipt and initial assessment of a disclosure 

made under the Act. Details about the Act and how people may 

make a disclosure are available from Council’s Protected Disclosure 

Coordinator and Council’s website.

As required by Section 104 of the Whistleblowers 
Protection Act 2001, it is reported that:

  Council has established procedures under Part 6 of the Act 

to deal with any disclosures made under the Act. These 

procedures are available to the public.

  For the period 1 July 2010 to 30 June 2011, no protected 

disclosures were received by Council.

  No protected disclosures were referred by Council to the 

Ombudsman Victoria for determination as to whether they were 

public interest disclosures.

  No public interest disclosures were referred to Council during 

the year by the Ombudsman.

  No public interest disclosures were referred by Council during 

the year to the Ombudsman to investigate.

  No investigations of disclosed matters were taken over by the 

Ombudsman from Council during the year.

  No requests were made under Section 74 of the Act to the 

Ombudsman to investigate disclosed matters referred to 

Council.

  There were no disclosed matters that Council declined to 

investigate during the year.

  There were no disclosed matters substantiated on investigation 

and action taken on completion of investigation.

  There were 14 recommendations of the Ombudsman under the 

Act that relate to Council during this past year (relating to an 

investigation that commenced in 2009/2010).

13 Statutory information 
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14 National Competition Policy Compliance 2010/11

Certifi cation by Chief Executive Offi cer
Maribyrnong City Council has complied with the requirements of the National Competition Policy (NCP) for the period 1 July 2010 to 30 June 

2011 in accordance with the requirements outlined in National Competition Policy and Local Government – A Revised Statement of Victorian 

Government Policy, December 2008 (2008 Statement) as set out below:

I certify that:

a)  this statement has been prepared in accordance with the 2009/10 National Competition Policy reporting guidelines, 

which is pursuant to the 2008 Statement; and

b) this statement present fairly the Council’s implementation of the National Competition Policy.

Signed:

Chief Executive Offi cer

Date 28/7/2011

A. TRADE PRACTICES COMPLIANCE
(State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant. 

If non-compliant, justify or cite actions to redress).
Compliant

B. LOCAL LAWS COMPLIANCE
(State whether the Council is compliant or non-compliant. 

List all local laws made or remade during 2010-11 which impose a 

restriction on competition.)

Compliant

C. COMPETITIVE NEUTRALITY COMPLIANCE
(State whether the Council is compliant or non compliant for all 

signifi cant businesses. List any signifi cant businesses that are 

non-compliant)

Compliant
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15 Council’s Performance 2010-2011

15.2 Performance Statement 2010-2011
Under Section 127(D) of the Local Government Act 1989, the preparation of the annual Municipal Budget contains a list of separately 

identifi ed Key Strategic Activities Council will undertake in the 2010/11 fi nancial year. This list of Key Strategic Activities includes 

performance targets and measures that will be assessed through an independent audit process and reported in this 2010/11 Annual Report.

Key Strategic Activities for 2010/11

The following lists Council's Key Strategic Activities for 2010/11.

15.1 Annual Indicators

KEY STRATEGIC 
ACTIVITIES

TARGET PERFORMANCE 
MEASURES

ACHIEVED

YES / NO

ACHIEVEMENTS

1 Review Library Opening 

hours and investigate 

options for enabling 

greater access to 

services.

Review completed by 

June 2011.

Review complete, 

recommendations made 

for future extensions 

of hours, and budget 

implications identifi ed.

Y Completed the review of library 

opening hours. Council endorsed the 

recommendations for extended hours and 

allocated funds in the 2011-12 budget.

2 Review and update 

the 2007 Early Years 

Infrastructure Plan.

Review completed by 

December 2010.

2010 Early Years 

Infrastructure Plan 

adopted by Council.

Y The Early Years Infrastructure Plan has 

been completed and adopted by Council in 

October 2010.

3 Prepare a Municipal 

Housing Strategy.

Strategy is adopted by 

June 2011.

Council adoption of 

a Housing Strategy 

including an 

implementation plan.

N A draft Housing Strategy has been 

developed, and community input will 

be sought prior to Council adoption in 

December 2011.

4 Prepare the Maribyrnong 

Economic and Industrial 

Development Strategy.

Strategy is adopted by 

December 2010.

Council adoption of the 

Strategy. 

N A draft Maribyrnong Economic 

Development Strategy and the Industrial 

Land Strategy has been completed. The 

draft will be presented to Council for 

adaption in September 2011. 

Overall Performance Community satisfaction rating for overall performance of the Council 6.43

Advocacy Community satisfaction rating for Council’s advocacy and community representation on key local issues 6.24

Engagement Community satisfaction rating for Council’s engagement in decision making on key local issues 6.41

All rates Average rates and charges per assessment $1,812.19

Residential rates Average residential rates and charges per assessment $1,442.24

Operating costs Average operating expenditure per assessment $2,735.49

Capital expenditure Average capital expenditure per assessment $437.05

Infrastructure
Renewal gap

Renewal and maintenance

134.89%

207.85%

Debts Average liabilities per assessment $1,019.23

Operating result Operating result per assessment $203.36
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KEY STRATEGIC 
ACTIVITIES

TARGET PERFORMANCE 
MEASURES

ACHIEVED

YES / NO

ACHIEVEMENTS

5 Continue programs 

promoting ‘Activating 

Footscray’.

Develop annual events 

calendar and delivery of 

events within available 

budget.

Number of events and 

number of participants.

Y The following events have been organised 

aimed at promoting ‘Activating Footscray’:

  Melbourne Food and Wine Festival

  Walking Maribyrnong – 11 tours involving 

just over 200 people.

  Parkour – 8 sessions involving 50 people

  Tai Chi – 22 sessions involving just over 

200 participants

 Lunar New Year Festival

 Footscray Flicks

 Progressive Dinner

6 Develop a Maribyrnong 

Festival Policy.

Festival Policy developed 

and adopted by Council 

by June 2011.

Festival Policy 

developed.

Y The Festival Policy was adopted by Council 

in November 2010, and is available on 

Council's website.

7 Complete the Walking 

Plan for the City.

Draft Walking Plan 

completed by 30 June 

2011.

Plan completed with 

defi ned actions.

Y The Walking Plan has been completed and 

adopted by Council in February 2011.

8 Continue to work with 

VicRoads to monitor and 

enforce compliance of 

the truck restrictions.

A reduction of overall 

truck numbers on 

specifi ed curfew routes 

during curfew hours.

A reduction in truck 

numbers as measured 

in the March post 

curfew traffi c counts.

N Continued with the on- going annual 

monitoring of truck numbers on specifi ed 

curfew routes. Council is unable to report 

on the actual fi gures as they have not been 

released by the State Government/ VicRoads.

9 Develop integrated 

Rooming House 

Assessment Protocol 

and Risk Management 

Plan.

Rooming House 

Assessment Protocol 

and Risk Management 

Plan developed by 

June 2011.

Creation of new 

Rooming House 

Assessment Protocol.

Y The Rooming House Assessment Protocol 

and Risk Management Plan has been 

developed and endorsed by Council in 

October 2010.

10 Review and update the 

Tree Planting Policy.

New policy completed 

by June 2011.

Strategy completed 

within endorsed 

timeline and budget.

N Completed the draft Tree Planting Policy. 

Further consultation will be undertaken 

prior to presenting the Policy to Council for 

adoption in December 2011.

11 Develop reports on 

Energy Use, Greenhouse 

Emissions and Water 

Use at Council Buildings 

and Facilities.

Reported on a bi-annual 

basis.

Reports made available 

on Council’s web page.

N Quarterly reports have been presented to the 

Executive Management Team on the energy 

use, greenhouse emission and water use in 

Council buildings and facilities. 

12 Continue to report 

progress of Council Plan 

2010-11 annual actions.

Reports produced on a 

quarterly basis.

Reports made available 

on Council’s web page.

Y Quarterly progress reports on the Council 

Plan 2010-11 annual actions have been 

presented to Council and placed on the 

Council website.

13 Develop a Community 

Gardens Strategy and 

Action Plan.

Strategy and Action Plan 

developed by 

June 2011.

Community Gardens 

Strategy and Action 

Plan developed to 

guide Council and the 

community with regards 

to the creation of new 

community gardens in 

the City.

Y The Community Gardens Strategy and Action 

Plan has been developed and adopted by 

Council in June 2011. 
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Council Approval of the Performance Statement 
In our opinion the accompanying performance statement of the Maribyrnong City Council in respect of the 

2010/2011 fi nancial year is presented fairly in accordance with the local Government Act 1989.

The statement outlines the performance targets and measures set out in relation to the achievement of 

the business plan in respect of that year described in Council’s corporate plan and describes the extent to 

which the business plan was met in that year having regard to those targets and measures.

As at the time of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars in the 

statement to be misleading or inaccurate.

Sarah Carter    Martin Zakharov
Councillor    Councillor
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16 Audit Committee Annual Report for year ending 30 June 2011

The “Terms of Reference” Clause 2.4 Reporting, of the Maribyrnong 

City Council Audit Committee Charter, state that the Audit 

Committee shall:-

Meetings

The Committee met during the period under review, on the following 

dates:-

24th August 2010

28th September 2010

23rd November 2010

22nd February 2011

27th April 2011

28th June 2011

Meeting Attendance

Each Committee meeting was conducted with at least a quorum 

(2 members of a total of 4). At least one independent member and 

one Councillor were present at each meeting. 

The Chief Executive Offi cer, General Manager of Sustainable 

Development, Finance Manager and Management Accountant were 

regularly in attendance. At least one representative from the Internal 

Auditors, McLean Delmo, was also in attendance at each meeting. 

The External Auditors – VAGO attended the 24 August 2010 

meeting to discuss the 2009/10 Annual Financial Statements.

Other senior offi cers of the Council were in attendance at Audit 

Committee meetings, as required when specifi c matters or reports 

were under discussion.

Duties and Responsibilities

It is considered that the Duties and Responsibilities, as detailed 

in Sub-section 2.5 (o) (i) to (xvii) inclusive of the Audit 

Committee’s Terms of Reference were adequately fulfi lled during 

the review period.

Independent Members

In accordance with the Audit Committee Charter 2.2 (d) 

Membership.

Mr Hawkes was appointed to the Committee in September 2005 

and Ms. MacRae was appointed in April 2006.

““report annually to the Council summarising the 

activities of the Committee during the previous 

fi nancial year”

““Appointment of external persons shall be made 

by Council for a minimum term of three years. 

Appointments of external persons will be for 

a maximum of seven years. The term of the 

appointment should be arranged to ensure an orderly 

rotation and continuity of membership despite 

changes to Council’s elected representatives”.

MEMBERS ELIGIBLE 
TO ATTEND

ATTENDED

Alan Hawkes, Independent Member 6 6

Linda MacRae, Independent Member 6 5

Cr Sel Sanli (Ex-Mayor) Member 3 2

Cr Sarah Carter (Mayor) Member 3 1

Cr Dina Lynch Member 6 6

Cr John Cumming Member 6 6



Maribyrnong City Council ANNUAL REPORT 2010/201156

Audit Reports Considered

The following Internal Audit Reports were presented by the Internal 

Auditors – McLean Delmo (MD) – to the Audit Committee for 

consideration and comment:

  Review Council’s municipal emergency management plan and 

controls.

 Review Council’s Human Resources systems and processes.

  Review Council’s grants received recording processes and 

controls. 

  Review of Council’s Risk Management Framework relating to 

“Rooming Houses”.

  Review of outstanding and implemented recommendations from 

previous reports.

 Review / update of audit plan for 2011.

  Update of outstanding items. It was pleasing to note that this 

report reduced the number of “high” risks from four to two and 

the “moderate” risks from three to two. 

 Review of Council’s delegations. 

 Review parking cash collection processes and procedures.

 Review town hall cashiering processes, procedures and controls.

 Review Council’s fi nancial and accounting system.

Other Regular & Special Reports

 2009/2010 Financial Statements.

 Overdue Debtors Reports.

 Business Continuity Plan. 

 Draft 2009/2010 Management Letter. 

  Management review and response to auditor general’s reports 

on Fees & Charges and Development Contributions. 

 Records Management Processes & Procedures. 

  Review of Council’s Risk Management Framework and 

Implementations Monitoring Processes including management’s 

review and response to auditor generals’ reports on Tendering & 

Contracting in Local Government. 

 OH&S Report (Including statistics).

 Cash Handling. 

 Review of Internal Audit Charges. 

  Status Report - Contamination of Maribyrnong Land 

and Buildings.

 Overdue Annual Leave Report.

 Reporting on Underlying Result.

  The CEO and internal auditor gave the committee an update on 

matters outstanding relating to the Ombudsman’s Report on the 

23rd August 2010.

 Councils Road Management Plan.

 External Audit Plan. 

 Review of 2011 Internal Audit Plan.

  The Audit Committee recommended changes to its Charter 

following Local Government Victoria’s “Audit Committees 

– A Guide to Good Practice for Local Government”.

  The Internal Auditor gave a verbal update on the fi nal 

whistleblowers report which was provided to the ombudsman. 

 Internal Audit Contract. 

  The General Manager of Corporate Services gave the committee 

a verbal update as to the current position of shared services.

 Asset Management Processes and Procedures.

  Risk Management Frame Work and Implementations monitoring 

process.

 Revised Fraud Policy.

  Managing the risks associated with the increase in rooming 

house in Maribyrnong.

  External Audit Strategy for the fi nancial year ending 

30th June 2011.

 VAGO Interim management letter.

 Report relating to L G Inspectorate visit . 

 Review of 2011 Internal Audit Plan Charges.

General Comments

The Committee worked well together in the 2010/11 fi nancial year, 

due largely to the very positive attitude of both the Internal Auditors 

and Senior Council staff and their various expertise in dealing with 

issues raised. The Committee is very appreciative of the cooperation 

and support of Council staff.

Alan Hawkes
Independent Audit Committee Member 

And Chairman 

Maribyrnong City Council

16 Audit Committee Annual Report for year ending 30 June 2011
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17 Finance Report 

Financial Overview

Council’s fi nances continue to be guided by the Long Term 

Financial Plan which was fi rst implemented in July 2000. This Plan 

is reviewed annually as a part of the Council planning process and 

updated to refl ect changing circumstances. 

Council’s investments are currently held with fi nancial institutions 

with a $1 million government guarantee, or any of the four major 

banks.

The Long Term Financial Plan was initially used as a tool to ensure 

the management of Council’s debt. Council’s outstanding debt has 

reduced from $33.019 million in June 2000 to $9.701 million in 

June 2011. 

This report provides an overview of the major results portrayed in 

Council’s Financial Statements for the year ended June 30 2011.

Surplus (defi cit) for the period

The surplus (defi cit) for the reporting period represents accrual 

accounting treatments which includes depreciation but excludes 

expenditure on capital items, loan repayments and transfers to and 

from reserves. Council budgeted for a $7.447 million surplus in the 

2010/11 fi nancial year and has achieved a $6.862 million surplus. 

This surplus is reported in the Comprehensive Income Statement 

as presented in the Annual Financial Report.

Capital Expenditure

Council’s capital expenditure for the 2010/11 fi nancial year was 

$14.747 million. A further $7.977 million has been expended on 

assets but not capitalised. This has been made possible by the 

improvement in Council’s fi nancial position and the introduction 

of the community infrastructure fund.

Cash Holdings

Council’s cash & investments on hand at 30 June was $43.566 

million an increase over the previous fi nancial year of $5.029 

million. This increase is mainly made up of Government funding 

advance to Council prior to the end of the Financial Year. These 

grants will be expended on projects and programs to occur in the 

2011/2012 year. The other major component is the increase in 

reserves. The level of Council’s cash and investments has seen 

the continuance of the Asset Investment Program and all reserves 

and provisions being fully funded, including:- Council’s provision 

for employee benefi ts amounts to $11.650 million and reserves for 

Mausoleum Trust of $552,000 developer contributions of 4.655 

million and Asset Investment Program of $11.119 million.

Assets – Property, Plant & Equipment

The level of Council assets has increased by $6.955 million 

Outstanding Debtors (Receivables)

Council’s debtors have reduced by $873,000 from the previous 

fi nancial year with the main decrease being in unpaid parking 

infringement debtors.

Borrowings

Council has not borrowed during the fi nancial year, and repayments 

have occurred in line with Council’s commitments. The outstanding 

amount at the end of the fi nancial year was $9.701 million.

Working Capital & Liquidity

The Working Capital Ratio or Liquidity position is a ratio of 1.95:1 

at June 30 2011, compared to 2.01:1 at June 30 2010. This ratio 

is used to assess Council’s ability to meet its current liabilities, by 

using its current assets. The ratio indicates $1.95 of current assets 

for every $1.00 of current liabilities. The current position is seen to 

be adequate.

18  A Guide to the Financial 
Statements

This Council prepares its fi nancial statements in accordance with 

the Australian Accounting Standards, using particular terminology 

and conventions that may not be familiar to some readers. This 

guide may assist readers understand the outcomes stated in the 

fi nancial statements.

Financial Statements

The Financial Statements report on how the Council performed 

fi nancially during the year and the overall fi nancial position at the 

end of the year. The Financial Statements include a Comprehensive 

Income Statement, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity 

and Cash Flow Statement. The Financial Statements also contain 

42 Notes, which set out Council’s accounting policies and details 

of the line item amounts contained in each of the fi rst four main 

statements in the Annual Report 2010/2011.
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17 Finance Report 

Standard Statements

The Standard Statements report on how the Council performed 

fi nancially during the year compared to its annual budget. The 

Standard Statements include an Income Statement, Balance Sheet, 

Cash Flow Statement and Statement of Capital Works. With the 

exception of the Statement of Capital Works, each of the statements 

is discussed later in this guide. The Statement of Capital Works 

shows the total value spent on projects in Council’s capital works 

program for the year by type of assets such as roads and buildings. 

The Standard Statements include one note which contains 

information about how the Statements were prepared, together 

with explanations for signifi cant variances between the actual and 

budgeted line items in each of the Statements. This guide provides 

an overview of each of the Statements included in the 2010/2011 

Financial Statements for the City of Maribyrnong and the key 

fi nancial results. 

Comprehensive Income Statement

The Income Statement shows the value of revenues such as 

rates that Council has earned and the value of expenses such as 

employee costs Council has incurred in delivering all its various 

services (excluding capital works) for the year. This Statement is 

prepared on an ‘accrual’ basis and includes both cash and non-

cash items. All revenue and expenses for the year are refl ected in 

the Statement even though some revenue may not yet be received 

(such as fees invoiced but not yet received) and some expenses 

may not yet be paid (such as supplier invoices not yet paid for 

goods and services already received). The surplus or defi cit for the 

year is the key fi gure to look at on the Income Statement to assess 

Council’s fi nancial performance. It is calculated by deducting the 

total expenses for the year from total revenues. While Council is 

a ‘not-for-profi t’ organisation, it should nonetheless generate a 

surplus in order to ensure fi nancial sustainability in the future. 

For the 2010/2011 year the City of Maribyrnong recorded a 

surplus of $6.862 million.

Balance Sheet

The Balance Sheet shows what the Council owns as assets such as 

cash and investments, what it owes as liabilities such as amounts 

owed to creditors, and the equity or net worth at the end of the 

year. The assets and liabilities are separated into current and 

non-current sections. Current generally means those assets which 

will be received, or liabilities which will be paid, within the next 12 

months. Non-current are all those assets and liabilities which are 

held for a longer term. The net current assets or working capital as 

it is sometimes called, is an important measure of Council’s ability to 

meet its debts as and when they fall due. The equity section of the 

Balance Sheet shows the reserves of the Council and the total of all 

the surpluses that have accumulated over the years. The total of 

the equity section represents the net fi nancial worth of the Council. 

At 30 June 2011 the Balance Sheet shows Council to be in a 

healthy fi nancial position, with $43.566 million in cash and a net 

worth of $796,698 million.

Statement of Changes in Equity

The Statement of Changes in Equity shows the changes that 

have happened during the year for each of the amounts shown 

in the equity section of the Balance Sheet. Accumulated surplus 

represents the aggregate of all surpluses and defi cits reported since 

the formation of the City of Maribyrnong. Other reserves represent 

amounts set aside in cash and investments for future replacement 

of specifi c types of assets or a specifi c purpose. A separate Asset 

Revaluation Reserve records the aggregate of all changes in the 

value of property and infrastructure assets. At 30 June 2011 the 

Statement of Changes in Equity shows an increase in equity, or net 

worth, of $6.862 million during the 2010/2011 year, representing 

the recorded surplus for the year.

Cash Flow Statement

The Cash Flow Statement shows all cash amounts received and all 

cash payments made during the year. It also shows the change in 

Council’s bank balance during the year and the balance at the end 

of the year. The cash fl ows are separated into different activities. 

Operating activities are those cash receipts and payments arising 

from delivering the various services of Council. The Net Cash Infl ow 

from Operating Activities is an important result in the Statement, as 

it shows the ability of the Council to generate a cash surplus which 

can then be used to fund the purchase or construction of long 

term assets such as property and infrastructure. If this amount is 

negative, it means that Council will be unable to fund future capital 

expenditure or pay its debts as and when they fall due. Investing 

activities are those cash receipts and payments arising from the 

purchase and sale of Council’s noncurrent assets. Financing 

activities are those cash receipts and payments arising from the 

raising of new borrowings and the repayment thereof. The Cash 

Flow Statement shows that in 2010/2011. Council generated a 

net operating infl ow of $23.642 million from operating activities. 

A cash outfl ow of $14.447 million was incurred on investing 

activities and fi nancing activities incurred a $4.166 million cash 

outfl ow. Total cash balances increased by $5.029 million during 

the year to $43.566 million at 30 June 2011.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

The Financial Statements also contain 42 notes, which set out 

Council’s accounting policies and details of the line item values 

contained in each of the fi rst four main statements just discussed. 

The notes are very important and give greater meaning to the values 

included in the main four statements. For that reason it is important 

that the Notes be read at the same time as reading the statements. 

To assist readers, where additional information in a statement is 

included in a note, the number of the note is shown next to that 

value. For example, in the Income Statement, a reference to note 

3 is shown next to Rates and Charges. Note 3 shows a number of 

items which make up the Rates and Charges value for the current 

and previous year.

Performance Statement

The Performance Statement shows the results that were achieved 

for the year for a number of performance indicators. These are then 

compared against targets that were set for those indicators at the 

beginning of the year and published in Council’s Annual Budget. 

The indicators cover the six strategic objectives included in the 

Council Plan 2009-2013.

For the 2010/2011 year, the actual results met the targets for 8 of 

the 13 indicators. 

Certifi cations by the Principal Accounting Offi cer, 
Councillors and Chief Executive Offi cer 

The Certifi cation of the Principal Accounting Offi cer is made by 

the person responsible for the fi nancial management of Council. 

The person must state whether in their opinion, the Statements 

have met all the statutory and professional reporting requirements. 

Two Councillors and the Chief Executive Offi cer make a certifi cation. 

The Councillors and the Chief Executive Offi cer must state that in 

their opinion, the Statements fairly present the fi nancial transactions 

of Council.

Independent Audit Reports

The Independent Audit Report is the external and independent 

opinion of the Victorian Auditor-General and provides the reader 

with a totally independent view about Council’s compliance 

with the statutory and professional requirements as well as the 

fairness aspects of the Statements. The Victorian Auditor-General 

issues two Audit Reports – a combined Report on the Standard 

Statements and Financial Statements and a separate Report on the 

Performance Statement. Each of the Audit Reports is addressed to 

the Councillors of the City of Maribyrnong
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Maribyrnong City Council
Comparative Report
Standard Income Statement

Budget Actuals
2010/11 Ref 2010/11

$'000 $'000 % $'000

Income

Total  income 93,126 6,037 6 99,163

Expenses

Total expenses 87,229 (4,352) (5) 91,581

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 7,447 (585) (8) 6,862

The above statement should be read with the accompanying notes.

Variances 
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Maribyrnong City Council
Comparative Report
Standard Income Statement

Variance Explanation Report

Item Ref Explanation

Income

Expenditure

Other
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Maribyrnong City Council
Comparative Report
Standard Balance Sheet

Budget Actuals
2010/11 Ref 2010/11

$'000 $'000 % $'000
Assets

Current assets

Total current assets 40,757 10,966 27 54,634

Non-current assets

Total non-current assets 649,016 127,439 20 776,455

Total assets 689,773 138,405 20 831,089

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Total current liabilities 22,738 (5,323) (23) 28,061

Non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities 6,914 584 8 6,330

Total liabilities 29,652 (4,739) (16) 34,391

Net assets 660,121 133,666 20 796,698

Equity

Total equity 660,121 136,577 21 796,698

The above statement should be read with the accompanying notes.

Variances 
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Maribyrnong City Council
Comparative Report
Standard Balance Sheet

Variance Explanation Report Ref Explanation

Item 

Assets

Liabilities
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Maribyrnong City Council
Comparative Report
Standard Cash Flow Statement

Adopted
Budget Actuals
2010/11 Ref 2010/11

$'000 $'000 % $'000

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash inflow from customers/suppliers

Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
activities 23,061 966 4 24,027

Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash (used in) investing activities (19,175) 4,728 25 (14,447)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash (used in) financing activities (4,463) (88) (2) (4,551)

31,505 12,061 38 43,566

The above statement should be read with the accompanying notes.

Variances 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year
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Maribyrnong City Council
Comparative Report
Standard Cash Flow Statement

Variance Explanation Report

Item Ref Explanation

Cash flows from operating activities

Net cash (used in) investing activities
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Maribyrnong CiCiCiityttytyy C CCouncil
Comparative Report
Standard Statement of Capital Works

Budget Actuals
2010/11 Ref 2010/11

Capital Works Groups $'000 $'000 % $'000

Total capital & improvement works

Total capital

Represented by:

Total capital & improvement works

Property, Infrastructure, Plant and Equipment Budget Actual
movement Reconciliation Worksheet 2010/11 2010/11

$'000 $'000 % $'000

Total capital & improvement works

Net movement in property, infrastructure,
plant and equipment

The above statement should be read with the accompanying notes.

VarianceVariances

Variances 
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Maribyrnong City Council
Comparative Report
Standard Statement of Capital Works

Variance Explanation Report

Item Ref Explanation
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Maribyrnong City Council
Comprehensive Income Statement

Note 2011 2010
$'000 $'000

Income

Total  income 99,163 98,879

Expenses

Total expenses 92,301 89,260

Surplus / (Deficit) 6,862 9,619

Other comprehensive income / (losses)

Comprehensive result 6,862 148,831

The above statement should be read with the accompanying notes.
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Maribyrnong City Council
Balance Sheet

Note 2011 2010
$'000 $'000

Assets
Current assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets 831,089 824,134

Liabilities
Current liabilities

Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities 34,391 34,298

Net assets 796,698 789,836

Equity

Total equity 796,698 789,836

The above statement should be read with the accompanying notes.
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Maribyrnong City Council
Statement of Changes in Equity

Asset
Accumulated Revaluation Other

Note Total Surplus Reserve Reserves
2011 2011 2011 2011

2011 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at end of the financial year 796,698 272,496 507,876 16,326

Accumulated Revaluation Other
Total Surplus Reserve Reserves
2010 2010 2010 2010

2010 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at end of the financial year 789,836 271,059 507,876 10,901

The above statement should be read with the accompanying notes.
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Maribyrnong City Council
Cash Flow Statement

2011 2010

Cash flows from operating activities Note $'000 $'000

Receipts

102,529 99,777

Payments

(78,887) (76,355)

27 23,642 23,422

Cash flows from investing activities

Net cash (used in) investing activities (14,447) (14,773)

Cash flows from financing activities

Net cash (used in) financing activities (4,166) (3,805)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 18 43,566 38,537

28
29

The above statement should be read with the accompanying notes.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

Introduction 

-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-

1 Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of accounting
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report
For the Year Ended 30 June 2011

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Changes in accounting policies

Financial statement presentation

(c) Revenue recognition

Rates, grants and contributions

The Council has adopted the following new and revised Australian Accounting Standards issued by the
AASB which are mandatory to the current reporting period from 1 July 2010. Disclosures required by these
Standards that are deemed material have been included in this financial report on the basis that they
represent a significant change in information from that previously made available.

In 2009 the AASB issued an omnibus of amendments, AASB 2009-4 and AASB 2009-5, to its Standards as
part of the Annual Improvements Project, primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying
wording. There are separate transitional provisions and application dates for each amendment. The
adoption of the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the
Council.

Where grants or contributions recognised as revenue during the reporting period were obtained on the
condition that they would be expended in a particular manner, or used over a particular period and those
conditions were undischarged as at balance date, the unused grant or contribution is disclosed in note 6('c).
The note also discloses the amount of unused grant or contribution from prior years that was expended on
Council's operations during the current year.

A liability is recognised in respect of revenue that is reciprocal in nature to the extent that the requisite
service has not been provided at balance date.

The amendments to AASB7 introduced by AASB7009-2 expand the disclosures required in respect of the
fair value measurements and liquidity risk.

Rates, grants and contributions (including developer contributions) are recognised as revenue when the
Council obtains control over the assets comprising these receipts. 

Income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution, or the right to receive the
contribution. It is probable that the economic benefits comprising the contribution will flow to the Council and
the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably.

A provision for doubtful debts on rates has not been established, as unpaid rates represent a charge against
the rateable property that will be recovered when the property is next sold. 

Contributed infrastructure assets, in the form of land, roads, drains, footpaths etc, which are received as a
condition of development, have been recognised as revenue.

Control over assets acquired from rates is obtained at the commencement of the rating year as it is an
enforceable debt linked to the rateable property or, where earlier, upon receipt of the rates. 

Control over contributed assets is normally obtained upon their receipt (or acquittal) or upon earlier
notification that a grant has been secured, and are valued at their fair value at the date of transfer.
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Depreciation of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

(e) Repairs and maintenance

User fees and fines

Sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Trade and other receivables

Inventories

Interest 
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Borrowing costs

(g) Recognition and measurement of assets

Acquisition

Threshold Limit Depreciation period

2011 2011
$'000

Property

Class of Asset

Infrastructure Assets

Plant and Equipment
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

1 Significant accounting policies (continued)

Revaluation

Land under roads

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(i) Deposits and retentions

(j) Employee benefits

Wages and salaries

Annual leave 

Long Service Leave

Classification of employee benefits

Superannuation
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Retirement Gratuities

(k) Leases

(l) Allocation between current and non-current

(m) Agreements equally proportionately unperformed

(n) Web site costs

(o) Goods and Services  Tax (GST)

(p) Rounding

(q) Impairment of assets

Operating Leases
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

1 Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(r) Financial guarantees

(s) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities and commitments

(t) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Impairment of non-financial assets

Critical accounting judgements
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2 Income, expenses and assets by function/activities

(b)

Community Wellbeing

Corporate Services

Infrastructure Services

Sustainable Development

The activities of Council are categorised into the following broad functions:
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

3 Rates and charges

Total rates and chagres

4 Statutory fees and fines

Total statutory fees and fines

5 User fees

Total user fees
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

6 Grants

Total grants

(a)

(b)

(c)
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

7 Contributions

(a) Contributions - cash

Total contributions - cash

8 Reimbursements

Total reimbursements
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

9 Interest

Total interest

10 Other income

Total other income

11 Net loss on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

(a) Property

(b) Infrastructure

(c) Plant and Equipment

Summary

Total (loss) on disposal of assets
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

12 Employee benefits

Total employee benefits

13 Materials and services

Total materials and services

14 Bad and doubtful debts

Total bad and doubtful debts
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

15 Depreciation 

Total depreciation

16 Finance costs 

Total finance costs

17 Other expenses 

Total other costs
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

18 Cash and cash equivalents

19 Trade and other receivables

Current

Total current

Non - current

Total non - current

Total trade and other receivables



Maribyrnong City Council ANNUAL REPORT 2010/201194

Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

20 Other assets

Total other assets

21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Summary

Total
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment

Property

Land 

Total Land

Land under roads (LUR)

Total Land under roads

Buildings

Total Buildings

Total Property
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)

Plant and equipment

Plant and machinery

Total Plant and machinery

Equipment and computers

Total Equipment and computers

Cultural items

Total Cultural items

Total Plant and equipment

Infrastructure and other assets

Roads and bridges

Total Roads and bridges
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

21 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)

Footpaths and cycle ways

Total Footpaths and cycle ways

Drains

Total Drains

Total Infrastructure assets

Other assets

Total Other assets

Total Infrastructure and other assets

Total Works in progress - at cost

Total Property, infrastructure,  plant and machinery
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

22 Trade and other payables

Unsecured 

Current

Total trade and other payables

23 Trust funds and deposits

24 Provisions

2011 Annual Long Retirement Total
leave service gratuity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2010 Annual LSL Retirement Total
leave service gratuity
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

24 Provisions (continued)

Employee benefits
Current

Non current

Total employee benefits

25 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Current

Non Current

Total 

Total Interest bearing loans and borrowings
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

26 Reserves

Balance at
beginning of 

reporting 
period

Increment (decrement)

Balance at 
end of 

reporting 
period

(a) Asset revaluation reserve $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2011
Property

412,023 - - 412,023
Infrastructure

  Assets disposed 95,853 - - 95,853
Total asset revaluation reserve 507,876 - - 507,876

2010
Property

282,313 129,710 - 412,023
Infrastructure

86,351 10,886 (1,384) 95,853
Total asset revaluation reserve 368,664 140,596 (1,384) 507,876

(b) Other reserves $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
2011

Total Other reserves 10,901 9,644 (4,219) 16,326

2010

Total Other reserves 10,599 816 (514) 10,901
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

27 Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus or (deficit)

Non cash items

Movement included in investment and financing activities

Change in assets and liabilities:

Net cash inflows provided by operating activities

28 Financing arrangements

Total credit facilities

Used facilities at balance date

Unused facilities at balance date
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

29 Restricted assets

Total restricted assets

30 Superannuation

Defined Benefits Plan
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

30 Superannuation benefit (continued)

Accounting Standard Disclosure

31-Dec-08
$'000

Superannuation expense

2011 2010
$'000 $'000
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

31 Commitments

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

Operating 

Total

Total

Capital 

Total

Total
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

32 Operating leases 2011 2010
$'000 $'000

33 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

Contingent liabilities

Guarantees for loans to other entities

Other contingent liabilities

Contingent assets
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

34 Financial instruments

(a) Accounting policy, terms and conditions

Recognised 
Financial 
Instruments

Note     Accounting Policy Terms and Conditions

Financial Assets

Financial Liabilities



Maribyrnong City Council ANNUAL REPORT 2010/2011 109

Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

34 Financial instruments (cont.)

(b) Categorisation of financial instruments

2011 Notes Cash & cash 
equilivalents

Contractual 
financial 

assets-loans 
& receivables

Contractual 
financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

Total

Contractual financial assets $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current assets

Total contractual 
financial assets

Contractual financial liabilities
Current liabilities

Non current liabilities

Total contractual 
financial liabilities

2010 Notes Cash & cash 
equilivalents

Contractual 
financial 

assets-loans 
& receivables

Contractual 
financial 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

Total

Contractual financial assets $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Current assets

Total contractual 
financial assets

Contractual financial liabilities
Current liabilities

Non current liabilities

Total contractual 
financial liabilities
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

34 Financial instruments (cont.)

(c) Interest Rate Risk

Fixed interest maturing in:

2011
Floating 
interest

 rate

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 
5 years

More 
than 5 
years

Non-
interest 
bearing

Total

Financial assets $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial liabilities

Fixed interest maturing in:

2010
Floating 
Interest 

rate

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 
5 years

More 
than 5 
years

Non-
interest 
bearing

Total

Financial assets $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial liabilities
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

34 Financial instruments (cont.)

(d) Net Fair Values

Financial Instruments

2011 2010 2011 2010
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(e) Credit Risk

(f) Risks and mitigation

Market risk

Interest rate risk

Total carrying amount 
as per Balance Sheet Aggregate net fair value
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

34 (f) Financial instruments (cont.)

Credit risk

Movement in Other debtors - Provisions for Doubtful Debts 2011 2010
$'000 $'000
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

34 (f) Financial instruments (cont.)

Ageing of Other Debtors

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

Ageing of individually impaired Trade and Other Receivables

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

Liquidity risk
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

34 Financial instruments (cont.)

2011 1 year 2-5 >5 Contracted Carrying
or less years years Cash Flow Amount

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2010 1 year 2-5 >5 Contracted Carrying
or less years years Cash Flow Amount

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(g) Sensitivity disclosure analysis

Interest rate risk
-1 % +1%
-100 basis points +100 basis points

Carrying amount Profit Equity Profit Equity
2011 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Financial assets:

2010
Financial assets:
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

35 Auditors' remuneration

36 Events occurring after balance date

37 Related party transactions

(I) Responsible Persons

Councillors 

Chief Executive Officer

(ii) Remuneration of responsible persons

2011 2010
No. No.
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

37 Related party transactions (continued)

(iii) Retirement benefits

(iv) Loans, guarantees etc.

(v) Other transactions

(vi) Senior officers remuneration

2011 2010
No. No.
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

38 Financial ratios (Performance indicators)
2011 2010 2009
ratio ratio ratio

(a) Debt servicing ratio 

(b) Debt commitment ratio 

(c) Revenue ratio

(d) Debt exposure ratio
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

38 Financial ratios (continued) 2011 2010 2009
ratio ratio ratio

(e) Working capital ratio

(f) Adjusted working capital ratio 
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

38 Financial ratios (continued)

(g) Definitions

Current assets:  

Current liabilities: 

Debt redemption: 

Debt servicing:  

Rate revenue: 

Total revenue:  

Total indebtedness:  

Realisable assets: 
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

Note 2011 2010
$'000 $'000

39 Capital expenditure

Capital works areas

Total capital works

Total capital works

Property, Infrastructure, Plant and Equipment
movement Reconciliation Worksheet

Total capital works

Net movement in property, infrastructure,
plant and equipment
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

39 Capital expenditure (continued)

(a) Renewal

(b) Upgrade
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

Note 2011 2010
$'000 $'000

40 Underlying result

Reconciliation of underlining surplus to comprehensive result

One-off / non-recurrent adjustments:

Underling surplus or (deficit)
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

41 Pending Accounting Standards

Standard / Interpretation Summary Applicable for 
annual 
reporting 
periods 
beginning or 

Impact on Local 
Government 
financial statements
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

41 Pending Accounting Standards
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Maribyrnong City Council
Notes to the Financial Report

2011 2010
$'000 $'000

42 Non current asset subject to compulsory acquisition

Land 

Buildings

Total Buildings

Total property
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Maribyrnong City Council does not accept any liability for any statement, opinions, errors or omissions 
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